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Foreword








Foreword


Your Committee take pleasure in presenting the 1978 Journal of the Nelson Historical Society. The interest taken in the Society's activities during the past year is encouraging. There is still a great deal of Nelson History to be recorded and researched and facilities here are exceptionally good. Since our last Journal appeared we have published, in conjunction with P. V. & N. L. Wastney a comprehensive history of one area, "Early Tide to Wakapuaka." During the year we received a bequest from the late James Jenkins one of the founders of our Society. The interest on a sum of money is to be used for occasional Memorial Lectures. This will serve to remind us of the debt the Society and Nelson owe for his organising the collection of much of the material now housed at Isel.


Next year will be the Silver Jubilee of our Society. I hope members will co-operate to mark it in a fitting manner.





Ian D. Simpson,


President.
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Rotokura: An Archaeological Site in Tasman Bay



(We know very little of the life in New Zealand before European times but it is part of our history David Butts tells us something of the Pre-European life at Rotokura).






Rotokura, located in Cable Bay on the eastern side of Tasman Bay (see Map 1), is an archaeological site which was occupied periodically at least from the beginning of the fourteenth century. Cable Bay has a reputation of excellent weather and consistently light seas, as is true for Tasman Bay generally. Although the hills are now virtually all cleared of native bush due to the expansion of farmland, it is thought that they were once covered with a variant of the North Island lowland forest, pockets of which are still extant in the area.


A wide range of exploitable resources were available to the prehistoric Maori. The open sea, sheltered bay, tidal flats and streams all provide abundant supplies of fish. Although the complement of species varies from season to season, there would always have been an adequate supply of fish at Cable Bay. The forest would have provided birds, fruits and berries. These resources are also seasonal. No season, however, is marked by a complete absence of resources. The sea also provides sea mammals (seals, sea lions, etc.), the exploitation of which was restricted by the social and breeding habits of each species involved. The Maori also exploited the Polynesian dog for food. In addition to these naturally occurring resources, it is highly probable that the Maori of Cable Bay had access to kumara, since this plant can be grown in the northern part of the South Island. There is, however, no specific evidence available to the author which would associate horticultural activities with Rotokura or Cable Bay. However, more intensive site surveying may locate 'made soils', pits, terraces, stone rows or alignments, or other surface features associated with horticulture in the Cable Bay area. Such evidence is known for D'Urville Island.






Tasman Bay in European History


Two of the most famous explorers of the South Island, Tasman and Cook, did not investigate the eastern coastline of Tasman Bay. This task was, however, superficially undertaken by D'Urville. Before D'Urville's visits sealers had plied the western coast of the South Island, but had spent little time actually on the eastern coast of Tasman Bay. Records left by these illiterate men, vying in a highly competitive industry, are understandably virtually non-existent. D'Urville visited New Zealand in the 
Coquelle in 1824 as an officer. He returned in command of the same ship, renamed Astrolabe, in 1827. After staying several days on the western side of Tasman Bay, he ran across to Croisilles Bay, missing any close inspection of Cable Bay. However, the descriptions of the Tasman Bay Maori are extremely valuable, since they record the situation before 1829, when the Te Atiawa, Ngati Rarua and Ngati Tama inflicted a crushing 

defeat on the Tasman Bay Maori. From this time on there seems to have been a steady decline in the Maori population of this area, the victors tending not to settle permanently in their newly acquired territories.


Thus in 1839 when Colonel William Wakefield arrived to buy land for the New Zealand Company, the low density of Maori population in the area persuaded him that it would be suitable for settlement. Whaling also became important in Cook Strait during this period. The Nelson settlement was established in 1841 and European settlement spread rapidly throughout the region.


The period from 1642 through until at least the 1830s in Tasman Bay can legitimately be called the Protohistoric. With careful archaeological research in the Tasman Bay area, we may be able to gain valuable evidence to document this period, about which we can learn so little through the traditional documentary sources of the historian.






Archaeology at Rotokura


When Mr D. Millar was excavating at Tahunanui in 1966, he was informed by Mr R. Tobin of a site at Cable Bay which had yielded artefacts and midden. This site, now known as Rotokura, was given immediate attention by the Archaeological Group of the Nelson Historical Society. There were two important reasons why Millar thought the site should be excavated. The first was that there had already been fossicking at the site and thus what was left of the site should be salvaged before further destruction occurred. The second reason is related to the overall concept of New Zealand prehistory and the artefacts which are known to have come from the site. New Zealand prehistory has been divided into Archaic and Classic Periods by various authors. Although more recently the idea of continuum, rather than of distinct periodization of New Zealand prehistory has gained favour, in academic circles at least, these terms are still used as description markers (for artefacts especially). The Archaic Maori has been termed the 'Moa Hunter'. Although the Maori did hunt the moa, it appears that it was not a dominant factor in the economic strategy of the early Maori in New Zealand. The Classic Maori is the Maori as Tasman, Cook and D'Urville observed the natives of New Zealand before extensive contact with the European.


One of the early problems which occupied New Zealand archaeologists was comprehending the transition from the Archaic to the Classic Maori. In one fossick hole at Rotokura, both Archaic and Classic Maori artefacts were found. It was therefore hoped that this site might enable prehistorians to document the transition period


This site is situated behind a boulder beach, next to a small lake (pond), after which it is named. A reference to the lake in the Nelson Evening Mail of 24/11/1949 reads:







"On the western side of what we call Schroders Mistake Cable Bay is a small lake, the waters of which from some peculiarity in the soil have a dull reddish hue, and for this reason the locality is known to the Maoris as Roto-kura or the Red Lake…"




Mr Jim Eyles has suggested to the author that a red moss (known locally as 'frog porridge'), which appears seasonally, may account for the name. Peart in his book 
Old Tasman Bay notes that not only was the whole of Cable Bay given the name Rotokura, but that it was also the name of a pa 'that formerly was placed where the boulder bank joins Pepin Is.'. His definition of the name was—'A red glow on the water—viz., a sunset' (p.125). The site discussed in this paper is not that marked on Peart's map (between pp.128 and 129).


Millar has described the site as follows:










"The surrounding topography—lagoon, boulder beach, and hillside—has had the effect of restricting the Maori inhabitants to a semi-flat area measuring approximately 35 yds long by 20 yds wide. This has reduced considerably the scatter of occupational residue and consequently the concentration of artefacts, midden refuse and for extremely difficult excavation in some areas of the structures has been considerable. To date approximately 550 sq. ft. of the site has been excavated and an impressive list of artefacts has been catalogued. The natural stratum consists mainly of beach boulders and this makes site."




(Millar, 1967:10)












Squares six feet by six feet were excavated by Millar, Eyles and six-teen other members of the Archaeological Group, including some school children. All bird, fish, dog, sea mammal and human bone was retained (though only after being put through large sieves). Shell samples were also taken


Before the work done by myself on the faunal material from Rotokura (Butts, n.d.), there had only been one publication relating to Rotokura. This was an article written by Millar and published in the 
Journal of the Nelson Historical Society 1967, entitled 'Recent Excavations in the Northern Part of the South Island'. In the article Millar outlined his initial impressions of the site. From the initial Archaic layer three genera of moa, fish, shellfish, birds, the Polynesian dog and the Polynesian rat were recovered. Bone and stone fishing lure shanks were well represented, as well as argil lite and greywacke adzes. Millar states that portions of finished adzes suggest it was more than an adze manufacturing centre. Because of the restricted nature of the site, not allowing for any great size in population, he suggests that "the site was occupied only seasonally, and that the main settlement existed somewhere else……" (1967:11). As the Archaic phase progresses, moa and seal bone diminish and subfossil

* moa bone is utilized more. The decline in moa bone is cited as a cause of certain changes in fish hook design 

from one piece to composite fish hooks. The site did not, however, help to document the intermediate stage between Archaic and Classic.


The Classic phase is assigned to a period of invasions from the North Island. Adzes, generally argillite, are smaller (2B in Duff's classification). Whereas shellfish seemed to be of little importance in the Archaic phase, Millar perceived a greater importance for shellfish in the Classic phase, with a wide range of mudflat, sandy beach and rockshore species present. Birds also appeared to be present in greater numbers. European contact is presented in the top of the occupation by a clay pipe, nails, glass and some rusty pieces of an old iron 'go ashore' pot, of a type commonly used by sailing crews.





* Subfossil moa bone—moa bone which has been deposited in the ground some time before use. This may in fact indicate that such bone was not available fresh due to the extinction of the species or some change in its distribution.






Recent Research


During 1977 the faunal material from the Rotokura excavations was shifted from the Nelson Provincial Museum to the Archaeological Laboratory of the Otago University Anthrology Department. The material has been stored at the Nelson Provincial Museum for some years. Only some of it had been sorted and this had been sent to Mr R. Scarlett of the Canterbury Museum. The bird bone identifications made by Scarlett are used here, but the sea mammal identifications have been done by Ian Smith, the dog bone by Jane Teal and Dr P. Houghton has studied the human remains. The fish bone was identified by Paul Wernham, supervised by Dr B. F. Leach, using the comparative collections at the Archaeological Laboratory, Otago University. Identifications of the fish species were made using five of the cranial bones and some other special bones such as the spine of the leather jacket 
(Navodon convexirostris).


Minimum numbers for each species of fish were calculated on the basis of the identifications. The maximum minimum number for each species is simply the largest minimum number achieved for any anatomical element, left or right. It is possible that using only cranial bones for identification there is a risk of generating biased data as a result of "various cultural practices related to preparation of fish by prehistoric people such as filleting, and also by techniques of preservation to overcome winter shortages" (B. F. Leach n.d.).






Stratigraphy and Periodization


The stratigraphy (a history of deposition) at Rotokura has been the subject of some discussion (Butts, n.d.). Millar's three period interpretation of the site has been followed. Layer 2, the most recent cultural deposition was divided into layers 2A and 2B. Though these may have been consistently applied in the recovery of artefactual material, this was not the case in the recovery of midden material. From artefactual recovery, layers 6, 4 and 2B are Archaic, and 2A is Classic. The prehistoric economics of the Maori are now viewed as a continuum. Millar has suggested that layer 6 (which is 

represented by little faunal material) may be an internal feature of layer 4. Thus the analysis of the faunal material presented below is concerned largely with comparing and contrasting two periods of occupation represented by layers 2 and 4. There is no attempt to compare Archaic and Classic material as such. A single date of 625±70 BP (AD 1335±70) is available from a charcoal sample recovered by archaeological excavation from layer 4, while layer 2 has both prehistoric and European contact material thus suggesting it was rather late. It should be noted that layers 1, 3 and 5 are sterile (that is, are not the result of cultural activity), probably representing periods when the site was abandoned.


The remainder of this paper is devoted to a comparison of the faunal materials identified from layers 4 and 2, with some comment on layer 6. This will involve discussion of the wetfish species, bird and sea mammal material. The dog and human remains will be briefly discussed at the end of the paper.







Layer Four (Early Occupation) 
Fish


See Figure 1 for maximum minimum numbers of species identified. The two most frequently occurring species are snapper

* (77% of total number of indivduals) and 
Pseudolabrus spp. (7.4%). Other species occurring (though individually constituting less than 3% of total) are barracouta, red cod, leather jacket, tarakihi, moki, blue cod, ling, gurnard, sea perch and eagle ray. Two elasmobranch vertebrae were also identified, though these could not be speciated.



Figure 1





Fish Species Layer 4: Maximum Minimum Numbers



	
Species

	
Maxi.Min.No.

	% 
of Total





	Snapper

	94

	77.1





	
Pseudolabrus sp.

	9

	7.4





	Barracouta

	3

	2.5





	Red cod

	3

	2.5





	Leather jacket

	3

	2.5





	Tarakihi

	2

	1.6





	Moki

	2

	1.6





	Blue cod

	2

	1.6





	Ling

	1

	0.8





	Gurnard

	1

	0.8





	Sea perch

	1

	0.8





	Eagle ray

	1

	0.8





	Total

	122

	100.0











Fish Species Layer 2: Maximum Minimum Numbers



	
Species

	
Maxi.Min. No.

	% 
of Total





	Snapper

	117

	32.1





	Barracouta

	79

	21.6





	Red cod

	26

	7.1





	Ling

	9

	2.5





	
Pseudolabrus spp.

	40

	11.0





	Tarakihi

	16

	4.4





	Moki

	11

	3.0





	Blue cod

	7

	1.9





	Gurnard

	2

	0.5





	Greenbone

	1

	0.3





	Conger eel

	5

	1.4





	
Anguilla spp.

	1

	0.3





	Trevally

	1

	0.3





	Kahawai

	1

	0.3





	Mackerel (?) spp.

	1

	0.3





	Leather jacket

	42

	11.5





	Sea perch

	2

	0.5





	Southern dogfish

	1

	0.3





	Eagle ray

	1(?)

	03





	Stingray

	2

	0.5





	Total

	365

	100.1





From studies undertaken by the author on the seasonal ability of the various species found at Rotokura, it is suggested that ca. 9% of the number of individuals identified are most likely to have been caught in late autumn, winter and early spring. This is very weak evidence for winter exploitation. Summer exploitation is more strongly indicated and the presence of barracouta, tarakihi and blue cod suggest activity at this site may have extended well back into spring or on into autumn.





* For scientific names of fish, see Apendix.






Birds


See Figure 2 for maximum minimum numbers of species present. By far the most dominant species in this assemblage is the spotted shag

* (45% of total number of individuals). Of the remaining twenty-three species identified in this layer, the Fiordland crested penguin (6.5%) is the most frequently occurring. The spotted shag and Fiordland crested penguin suggest spring through summer exploitation. Evidence for probable winter exploitation is found in the presence of the New Zealand pigeon, tui and king shag. These birds are thought to be in their best condition during winter. However, winter exploitation indicators are minimal. If layer 6 is part of layer 4 (see pp. 8 and 9 above) then the addition of the South Island kaka and Australian gannet strengthen the case for winter exploitation. The latter species is almost certainly exclusive to the months June through September in the Cable Bay area.






Figure 2





Bird Species: Maximum Minimum Numbers



	
Species

	L*6

	LL6+4

	L4

	L2





	South Island brown kiwi

	

	1

	1

	





	Southern blue penguin

	

	1

	1

	





	Blue penguin

	1

	1+3=4

	3

	11





	Fiordland crested penguin

	1

	1+5=6

	5

	





	Erect crested penguin

	

	1

	1

	





	Crested penguin

	

	5

	5

	





	Penguin (?)

	

	1

	1

	





	Mollymawk

	

	1

	1

	1





	Petrel (species unknown)

	

	11m†

	11m

	2





	Prion

	

	

	

	3





	Australian gannet

	1

	1

	

	





	Sooty shearwater

	

	

	

	1





	Fluttering shearwater or Huttons shearwater

	

	1

	1

	3





	
Puffinus sp. (smaller than fluttering shearwater)

	

	

	

	1





	Black shag

	

	1

	1

	





	Black shag or pied shag

	

	1

	1

	2





	Black shag or king shag

	

	1

	1

	





	
Leucocarbo carunculatus subsp.

	

	

	

	1





	Little shag

	

	4

	4

	4





	Spotted shag

	6

	31+6=37

	31

	5





	Heron (species unknown)

	

	

	

	1





	

	

	

	

	(juvenile)





	Duck

	

	

	

	1





	Small duck (species unknown)

	1

	2+2=3

	2

	1





	Swan

	

	

	

	1





	Extinct swan

	1

	1

	

	





	*L = Layer.

	

	

	

	





	†lm = Immature.

	

	

	

	





	New Zealand falcon

	

	

	

	1





	Western weka

	

	1

	1

	





	Weka

	

	2

	2

	3





	Rail

	

	2

	2

	1





	Takahe

	1

	1

	

	





	Southern black backed gull

	

	1

	1

	





	New Zealand pigeon

	1

	1+3=4

	3

	1





	South Island kaka

	1

	1

	

	1





	Yellow crowned parakeet

	

	

	

	1





	Tui

	1

	1+2=3

	2

	





	South Island kokako

	

	

	

	2





	Extinct goose

	

	1

	1

	1





	Extinct duck

	

	1

	1

	





	

	—

	—

	—

	—





	
Total

	15

	88

	73

	50





	
Overall Total = 136.

	

	

	

	








* For scientific names of birds, see Appendix.









Also present: 
Dinornis torosus (Hutton)


Anomalopteryx didiformis (Owen)

species larger than 
Anomalopteryx didiformis (Owen)


As is generally the case in the seasonal analysis of New Zealand archaeological assemblages of bird bone, the spring and summer exploitation is the most strongly represented. Thus in the final analysis, mid-spring to summer and early winter exploitation are suggested.






Sea Mammals


In layer 4, Smith (n.d.) has identified fur seals, sea lions, leopard seal and possibly an elephant seal. There are eleven fur seals present. Their age and sex characteristics provide possible indications of both summer and winter occupation. Though the evidence strongly suggests a summer exploitation, there is some reason to suspect hunting of this species may have occurred at more than one time of the year.






Summary of Layer Four


The evidence for summer exploitation of fish, birds and sea mammals is strong, but there is also a body of evidence to suggest at least some activity on the site through into late autumn/early winter. It is a failing of the probability methods used in the study that species most probably caught in winter cannot be definitely identified as such unless their distribution in the area is exclusive to the winter period.







Layer Two (Later Occupation) 
Fish


See Figure 1 for maximum minimum numbers of species identified. Of the twenty wetfish species identified in Layer 2, snapper (32.1% of total number of individuals) and barracouta (21.6%) are the most common. The former is a spring-summer indicator of exploitation, the latter a late autumn, winter and early spring indicator. Of the total assemblage 45.6% of total number of individuals are thought to indicate spring and summer exploitation, while 41.3% are thought to indicate late autumn, winter and early spring. The remainder can be caught with equal probability throughout the year. It is suggested that the fish bone from layer 2 represents an exploitation of wetfish throughout the year. Autumn and winter indicators are more in evidence with barracouta, red cod, tarakihi and blue cod constituting a large proportion of the total.






Birds


Of the twenty-four species identified in this layer, 50% are maritime birds, 29.2% forest birds and 20.8% are wetland birds. Spring and summer exploitation is indicated by the penguins, shags, prion, petrel, sooty shearwater, juvenile heron, ducks, New Zealand falcon and South Island kaka. Autumn and winter exploitation is indicated by the weka, mollyhawk, New Zealand pigeon and yellow-crowned 

parakeet. The little shag is available and equally exploitable all year round.


Evidence is present for exploitation at all seasons if it is assumed that species are taken at the time when they are most easily exploited or when they are in their best condition. Best (1942:156) suggests that there was a clearly defined secondary bird catching period when birds which had reached their best condition during autumn were taken. In this category he especially notes pigeon, kaka and tui.






Sea Mammals


Smith (n.d.:3) has identified a sea lion, one other large sea mammal (though he is unable to identify it to species level) and two fur seals. This small number of individuals makes any conclusions very tentative using presently available methods of analysis. Smith (ibid: 15) has suggested winter exploitation of the fur seals and sea lion as the most probable interpretation. With the sea lion, however, there is the possibility that prehistoric distribution may have been different to that at present.






Summary of Layer Two


From the wetfish, birds and sea mammals present, this assemblage has given a much stronger evidence for winter occupation than the layer 4 assemblage. Summer occupation is also strongly evidenced by wetfish species and birds. It is therefore suggested that there is sufficient evidence from the faunal component of layer 2 to document activity at Rotokura during all seasons of the year. This does not mean nor infer that the site was permanently occupied throughout the year. A full excavation report is necessary before such an assessment could be attempted since without this the extent of structures for permanent occupation cannot be assessed. Also a knowledge of sites associated with Rotokura would be a crucial element in any final analysis of the site.






Discussion


The exploitation of available food sources by the prehistoric Maori in Tasman Bay is shown to be wide ranging by the analysis of the faunal material at Rotokura. If we were to add the organic materials which do not survive (e.g. berries) the range is even more extensive. The fish species present are evidence of both shore and canoe fishing, with the possibility of nets and line fishing. The sea also yielded a wide range of shellfish. Though these have not been analysed, initial observations suggest that both rocky and sandy shore species are present in both periods. Trends relating to shellfish species cannot be discussed without further work on the material


The bird material, represented by forty species (if layers 6, 4 and 2 are taken together) also demonstrates a wide ranging exploitation. In addition to these there are three species of moa present. Several other extinct species are identified, including a duck and a 

swan. While the birds were probably most abundant in the summer months, research has shown that some species would have provided excellent food in the winter. In the later period the maritime species appear to be the mainstay, with forest and wetland birds forming a supportive role. However, this may be a biased view, with some species being taken, cooked or eaten at other more specialized sites or in other areas of the site than those excavated.


Smith (n.d.:10) suggests that the butchering pattern of the sea lions in the early periods indicates the presence of a colony close to the site. He also notes (ibid.:11) that the fur seals were not butchered on the site and that it is likely to have been some distance from Rotokura. A possibility is the rocky north coast of Pepin Island.


The Polynesian dog also provided a food source at Rotokura. Layer 4 has a maximum minimum number of eight, while layer 2 has sixteen. The dogs range in age from five to six weeks to older than eighteen months. Ages are based on tooth eruption and bone growth. The dog bone at Rotokura is thought to result from the exploitation of the species for food and artefact manufacture. It is suggested that dogs at Rotokura could have provided a valuable food supply if seasonal food supplies were interrupted by unusual climatic occurences, or in periods of transition from one season to another.


The human bone from Rotokura was analysed by Dr P. Houghton, Department of Anatomy, Medical School, University of Otago. Two adult persons are thought to be represented: one, a robust male about thirty years of age; the other, a female who appears to fall within the same parameters—Polynesian, aged about thirty years. The cranial material has been deliberately cut, presumably for the purpose of making artefacts. Millar (pers. comm., 1977) has suggested that the scattered appearance of the material during the excavation suggested the result of violent death. Dr Houghton was not able to confirm that the deaths of the individuals were the result of violence.






Conclusion


The Rotokura midden represents an exloitation pattern which involved wide spectrum hunting and fishing in the Cable Bay area. A trend towards a year round activity at the site has been documented (Butts, n.d.). The early period lacks conclusive evidence for winter activity, while the later period has more substantial evidence that winter activity was undertaken. Fishing, fowling, sealing and the consumption of Polynesian dog all formed essential (if proportionally changing) elements in the subsistence economics of the Rotokura inhabitants. The variety of species present in the midden at Rotokura suggests a far more varied diet than New Zealanders eat today. It is also worth noting that as a consequence of forest destruction, seal over-kill, and the suspected damaging effect of commercial fishing on fish supplies, it would be impossible to live the same life style within the same area at the present time.
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Appendix




Scientific Names of Fish Species






	Snapper

	
Chrysophrys auratus





	Barracouta

	
Thyristes atun





	Rough leather jacket

	
Navodon convexirostris





	Red cod

	
Physiculus bachus





	Tarakihi

	
Cheilodactylus macropterus





	Blue moki

	
Latridopsis ciliaris





	Ling

	
Genypterus blacodes





	Blue cod

	
Papapercis colias





	Conger eel

	
Conger verreauxi





	Shorttail stingray

	
Dasyatis brevicaudatus





	Sea perch

	
Helicolenus papillosus





	Red gurnard

	
Chelidonichthys kumu





	Greenbone

	
Coridax pullus





	Freshwater eel

	
Anguilla spp.





	Trevally

	
Caranx lutescens





	Kahawai

	
Arripus trutta





	Southern dogfish

	
Squalus cf. acanthias





	Eagle ray

	
Myliobatus tenuicaudatus





	Common mackerel

	
Scamber japonicus












Scientific Names of Bird Species






	South Island brown kiwi

	
Apteryx a. australis





	Southern blue penquin

	
Eudyptula m. minor





	Blue penguin

	
Eudyptula minor subsp.





	Fiordland crested penguin

	
Eudyptes p. pachyrhynchus





	Erect crested penguin

	
Eudyptes pachyrhynchus sclateri





	Crested penguin

	
Eudyptes pachyrhynchus sp.





	Mollymawk

	
Diomedea cauta subspp.





	Prion

	
Pachyptila sp.





	Australian gannet

	
Sula bassana serrator





	Sooty shearwater

	
Puffinus griseus





	Fluttering shearwater

	
Puffinus g. gavia





	Huttons shearwater

	
Puffinus huttoni





	Black shag

	
Phalacrocorax carbo novaehollandiae





	Pied shag

	
Phalacrocorax v. varius





	King shag

	
Leucocarbo c. carunculatus





	Little shag

	
Phalacrocorax melanoleucos brevirostris





	Spotted shag

	
Stictocarbo p. punctatus





	Duck

	
Anas sp.





	Swan

	
Anser sp.





	Extinct swan

	
Cnemiornis calcitrans





	New Zealand falcon

	
Falco novaeseelandiae





	Western weka

	
Gallirallus a. australis





	Weka

	
Gallirallus australis sp.





	Rail

	
Gallirallus minor





	Takahe

	
Notornis mantelli





	Southern black backed gull

	
Larus dominicanus





	New Zealand pigeon

	
Hemiphaga n. novaeseelandiae





	South Island kaka

	
Nestor m. meridionalis





	Yellow crowned parakeet

	
Cyanoramphus a. auriceps





	Tui

	
Prosthemadora nu novaeseelandiae





	South Island kokako

	
Callaeas c. cinerea





	Extinct goose

	
Cygnus sumnerensis





	Extinct duck

	
Euryanas finschi
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Rotokura: An Archaeological Site in Tasman Bay





Rotokura: An Archaeological Site in Tasman Bay



(We know very little of the life in New Zealand before European times but it is part of our history David Butts tells us something of the Pre-European life at Rotokura).






Rotokura, located in Cable Bay on the eastern side of Tasman Bay (see Map 1), is an archaeological site which was occupied periodically at least from the beginning of the fourteenth century. Cable Bay has a reputation of excellent weather and consistently light seas, as is true for Tasman Bay generally. Although the hills are now virtually all cleared of native bush due to the expansion of farmland, it is thought that they were once covered with a variant of the North Island lowland forest, pockets of which are still extant in the area.


A wide range of exploitable resources were available to the prehistoric Maori. The open sea, sheltered bay, tidal flats and streams all provide abundant supplies of fish. Although the complement of species varies from season to season, there would always have been an adequate supply of fish at Cable Bay. The forest would have provided birds, fruits and berries. These resources are also seasonal. No season, however, is marked by a complete absence of resources. The sea also provides sea mammals (seals, sea lions, etc.), the exploitation of which was restricted by the social and breeding habits of each species involved. The Maori also exploited the Polynesian dog for food. In addition to these naturally occurring resources, it is highly probable that the Maori of Cable Bay had access to kumara, since this plant can be grown in the northern part of the South Island. There is, however, no specific evidence available to the author which would associate horticultural activities with Rotokura or Cable Bay. However, more intensive site surveying may locate 'made soils', pits, terraces, stone rows or alignments, or other surface features associated with horticulture in the Cable Bay area. Such evidence is known for D'Urville Island.
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Tasman Bay in European History




Tasman Bay in European History


Two of the most famous explorers of the South Island, Tasman and Cook, did not investigate the eastern coastline of Tasman Bay. This task was, however, superficially undertaken by D'Urville. Before D'Urville's visits sealers had plied the western coast of the South Island, but had spent little time actually on the eastern coast of Tasman Bay. Records left by these illiterate men, vying in a highly competitive industry, are understandably virtually non-existent. D'Urville visited New Zealand in the 
Coquelle in 1824 as an officer. He returned in command of the same ship, renamed Astrolabe, in 1827. After staying several days on the western side of Tasman Bay, he ran across to Croisilles Bay, missing any close inspection of Cable Bay. However, the descriptions of the Tasman Bay Maori are extremely valuable, since they record the situation before 1829, when the Te Atiawa, Ngati Rarua and Ngati Tama inflicted a crushing 

defeat on the Tasman Bay Maori. From this time on there seems to have been a steady decline in the Maori population of this area, the victors tending not to settle permanently in their newly acquired territories.


Thus in 1839 when Colonel William Wakefield arrived to buy land for the New Zealand Company, the low density of Maori population in the area persuaded him that it would be suitable for settlement. Whaling also became important in Cook Strait during this period. The Nelson settlement was established in 1841 and European settlement spread rapidly throughout the region.


The period from 1642 through until at least the 1830s in Tasman Bay can legitimately be called the Protohistoric. With careful archaeological research in the Tasman Bay area, we may be able to gain valuable evidence to document this period, about which we can learn so little through the traditional documentary sources of the historian.
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Archaeology at Rotokura




Archaeology at Rotokura


When Mr D. Millar was excavating at Tahunanui in 1966, he was informed by Mr R. Tobin of a site at Cable Bay which had yielded artefacts and midden. This site, now known as Rotokura, was given immediate attention by the Archaeological Group of the Nelson Historical Society. There were two important reasons why Millar thought the site should be excavated. The first was that there had already been fossicking at the site and thus what was left of the site should be salvaged before further destruction occurred. The second reason is related to the overall concept of New Zealand prehistory and the artefacts which are known to have come from the site. New Zealand prehistory has been divided into Archaic and Classic Periods by various authors. Although more recently the idea of continuum, rather than of distinct periodization of New Zealand prehistory has gained favour, in academic circles at least, these terms are still used as description markers (for artefacts especially). The Archaic Maori has been termed the 'Moa Hunter'. Although the Maori did hunt the moa, it appears that it was not a dominant factor in the economic strategy of the early Maori in New Zealand. The Classic Maori is the Maori as Tasman, Cook and D'Urville observed the natives of New Zealand before extensive contact with the European.


One of the early problems which occupied New Zealand archaeologists was comprehending the transition from the Archaic to the Classic Maori. In one fossick hole at Rotokura, both Archaic and Classic Maori artefacts were found. It was therefore hoped that this site might enable prehistorians to document the transition period


This site is situated behind a boulder beach, next to a small lake (pond), after which it is named. A reference to the lake in the Nelson Evening Mail of 24/11/1949 reads:







"On the western side of what we call Schroders Mistake Cable Bay is a small lake, the waters of which from some peculiarity in the soil have a dull reddish hue, and for this reason the locality is known to the Maoris as Roto-kura or the Red Lake…"




Mr Jim Eyles has suggested to the author that a red moss (known locally as 'frog porridge'), which appears seasonally, may account for the name. Peart in his book 
Old Tasman Bay notes that not only was the whole of Cable Bay given the name Rotokura, but that it was also the name of a pa 'that formerly was placed where the boulder bank joins Pepin Is.'. His definition of the name was—'A red glow on the water—viz., a sunset' (p.125). The site discussed in this paper is not that marked on Peart's map (between pp.128 and 129).


Millar has described the site as follows:










"The surrounding topography—lagoon, boulder beach, and hillside—has had the effect of restricting the Maori inhabitants to a semi-flat area measuring approximately 35 yds long by 20 yds wide. This has reduced considerably the scatter of occupational residue and consequently the concentration of artefacts, midden refuse and for extremely difficult excavation in some areas of the structures has been considerable. To date approximately 550 sq. ft. of the site has been excavated and an impressive list of artefacts has been catalogued. The natural stratum consists mainly of beach boulders and this makes site."




(Millar, 1967:10)












Squares six feet by six feet were excavated by Millar, Eyles and six-teen other members of the Archaeological Group, including some school children. All bird, fish, dog, sea mammal and human bone was retained (though only after being put through large sieves). Shell samples were also taken


Before the work done by myself on the faunal material from Rotokura (Butts, n.d.), there had only been one publication relating to Rotokura. This was an article written by Millar and published in the 
Journal of the Nelson Historical Society 1967, entitled 'Recent Excavations in the Northern Part of the South Island'. In the article Millar outlined his initial impressions of the site. From the initial Archaic layer three genera of moa, fish, shellfish, birds, the Polynesian dog and the Polynesian rat were recovered. Bone and stone fishing lure shanks were well represented, as well as argil lite and greywacke adzes. Millar states that portions of finished adzes suggest it was more than an adze manufacturing centre. Because of the restricted nature of the site, not allowing for any great size in population, he suggests that "the site was occupied only seasonally, and that the main settlement existed somewhere else……" (1967:11). As the Archaic phase progresses, moa and seal bone diminish and subfossil

* moa bone is utilized more. The decline in moa bone is cited as a cause of certain changes in fish hook design 

from one piece to composite fish hooks. The site did not, however, help to document the intermediate stage between Archaic and Classic.


The Classic phase is assigned to a period of invasions from the North Island. Adzes, generally argillite, are smaller (2B in Duff's classification). Whereas shellfish seemed to be of little importance in the Archaic phase, Millar perceived a greater importance for shellfish in the Classic phase, with a wide range of mudflat, sandy beach and rockshore species present. Birds also appeared to be present in greater numbers. European contact is presented in the top of the occupation by a clay pipe, nails, glass and some rusty pieces of an old iron 'go ashore' pot, of a type commonly used by sailing crews.





* Subfossil moa bone—moa bone which has been deposited in the ground some time before use. This may in fact indicate that such bone was not available fresh due to the extinction of the species or some change in its distribution.
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Recent Research




Recent Research


During 1977 the faunal material from the Rotokura excavations was shifted from the Nelson Provincial Museum to the Archaeological Laboratory of the Otago University Anthrology Department. The material has been stored at the Nelson Provincial Museum for some years. Only some of it had been sorted and this had been sent to Mr R. Scarlett of the Canterbury Museum. The bird bone identifications made by Scarlett are used here, but the sea mammal identifications have been done by Ian Smith, the dog bone by Jane Teal and Dr P. Houghton has studied the human remains. The fish bone was identified by Paul Wernham, supervised by Dr B. F. Leach, using the comparative collections at the Archaeological Laboratory, Otago University. Identifications of the fish species were made using five of the cranial bones and some other special bones such as the spine of the leather jacket 
(Navodon convexirostris).


Minimum numbers for each species of fish were calculated on the basis of the identifications. The maximum minimum number for each species is simply the largest minimum number achieved for any anatomical element, left or right. It is possible that using only cranial bones for identification there is a risk of generating biased data as a result of "various cultural practices related to preparation of fish by prehistoric people such as filleting, and also by techniques of preservation to overcome winter shortages" (B. F. Leach n.d.).
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Stratigraphy and Periodization


The stratigraphy (a history of deposition) at Rotokura has been the subject of some discussion (Butts, n.d.). Millar's three period interpretation of the site has been followed. Layer 2, the most recent cultural deposition was divided into layers 2A and 2B. Though these may have been consistently applied in the recovery of artefactual material, this was not the case in the recovery of midden material. From artefactual recovery, layers 6, 4 and 2B are Archaic, and 2A is Classic. The prehistoric economics of the Maori are now viewed as a continuum. Millar has suggested that layer 6 (which is 

represented by little faunal material) may be an internal feature of layer 4. Thus the analysis of the faunal material presented below is concerned largely with comparing and contrasting two periods of occupation represented by layers 2 and 4. There is no attempt to compare Archaic and Classic material as such. A single date of 625±70 BP (AD 1335±70) is available from a charcoal sample recovered by archaeological excavation from layer 4, while layer 2 has both prehistoric and European contact material thus suggesting it was rather late. It should be noted that layers 1, 3 and 5 are sterile (that is, are not the result of cultural activity), probably representing periods when the site was abandoned.


The remainder of this paper is devoted to a comparison of the faunal materials identified from layers 4 and 2, with some comment on layer 6. This will involve discussion of the wetfish species, bird and sea mammal material. The dog and human remains will be briefly discussed at the end of the paper.
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Layer Four (Early Occupation) Fish





Layer Four (Early Occupation) 
Fish


See Figure 1 for maximum minimum numbers of species identified. The two most frequently occurring species are snapper

* (77% of total number of indivduals) and 
Pseudolabrus spp. (7.4%). Other species occurring (though individually constituting less than 3% of total) are barracouta, red cod, leather jacket, tarakihi, moki, blue cod, ling, gurnard, sea perch and eagle ray. Two elasmobranch vertebrae were also identified, though these could not be speciated.



Figure 1





Fish Species Layer 4: Maximum Minimum Numbers



	
Species

	
Maxi.Min.No.

	% 
of Total





	Snapper

	94

	77.1





	
Pseudolabrus sp.

	9

	7.4





	Barracouta

	3

	2.5





	Red cod

	3

	2.5





	Leather jacket

	3

	2.5





	Tarakihi

	2

	1.6





	Moki

	2

	1.6





	Blue cod

	2

	1.6





	Ling

	1

	0.8





	Gurnard

	1

	0.8





	Sea perch

	1

	0.8





	Eagle ray

	1

	0.8





	Total

	122

	100.0











Fish Species Layer 2: Maximum Minimum Numbers



	
Species

	
Maxi.Min. No.

	% 
of Total





	Snapper

	117

	32.1





	Barracouta

	79

	21.6





	Red cod

	26

	7.1





	Ling

	9

	2.5





	
Pseudolabrus spp.

	40

	11.0





	Tarakihi

	16

	4.4





	Moki

	11

	3.0





	Blue cod

	7

	1.9





	Gurnard

	2

	0.5





	Greenbone

	1

	0.3





	Conger eel

	5

	1.4





	
Anguilla spp.

	1

	0.3





	Trevally

	1

	0.3





	Kahawai

	1

	0.3





	Mackerel (?) spp.

	1

	0.3





	Leather jacket

	42

	11.5





	Sea perch

	2

	0.5





	Southern dogfish

	1

	0.3





	Eagle ray

	1(?)

	03





	Stingray

	2

	0.5





	Total

	365

	100.1





From studies undertaken by the author on the seasonal ability of the various species found at Rotokura, it is suggested that ca. 9% of the number of individuals identified are most likely to have been caught in late autumn, winter and early spring. This is very weak evidence for winter exploitation. Summer exploitation is more strongly indicated and the presence of barracouta, tarakihi and blue cod suggest activity at this site may have extended well back into spring or on into autumn.





* For scientific names of fish, see Apendix.
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Birds




Birds


See Figure 2 for maximum minimum numbers of species present. By far the most dominant species in this assemblage is the spotted shag

* (45% of total number of individuals). Of the remaining twenty-three species identified in this layer, the Fiordland crested penguin (6.5%) is the most frequently occurring. The spotted shag and Fiordland crested penguin suggest spring through summer exploitation. Evidence for probable winter exploitation is found in the presence of the New Zealand pigeon, tui and king shag. These birds are thought to be in their best condition during winter. However, winter exploitation indicators are minimal. If layer 6 is part of layer 4 (see pp. 8 and 9 above) then the addition of the South Island kaka and Australian gannet strengthen the case for winter exploitation. The latter species is almost certainly exclusive to the months June through September in the Cable Bay area.






Figure 2





Bird Species: Maximum Minimum Numbers



	
Species

	L*6

	LL6+4

	L4

	L2





	South Island brown kiwi

	

	1

	1

	





	Southern blue penguin

	

	1

	1

	





	Blue penguin

	1

	1+3=4

	3

	11





	Fiordland crested penguin

	1

	1+5=6

	5

	





	Erect crested penguin

	

	1

	1

	





	Crested penguin

	

	5

	5

	





	Penguin (?)

	

	1

	1

	





	Mollymawk

	

	1

	1

	1





	Petrel (species unknown)

	

	11m†

	11m

	2





	Prion

	

	

	

	3





	Australian gannet

	1

	1

	

	





	Sooty shearwater

	

	

	

	1





	Fluttering shearwater or Huttons shearwater

	

	1

	1

	3





	
Puffinus sp. (smaller than fluttering shearwater)

	

	

	

	1





	Black shag

	

	1

	1

	





	Black shag or pied shag

	

	1

	1

	2





	Black shag or king shag

	

	1

	1

	





	
Leucocarbo carunculatus subsp.

	

	

	

	1





	Little shag

	

	4

	4

	4





	Spotted shag

	6

	31+6=37

	31

	5





	Heron (species unknown)

	

	

	

	1





	

	

	

	

	(juvenile)





	Duck

	

	

	

	1





	Small duck (species unknown)

	1

	2+2=3

	2

	1





	Swan

	

	

	

	1





	Extinct swan

	1

	1

	

	





	*L = Layer.

	

	

	

	





	†lm = Immature.

	

	

	

	





	New Zealand falcon

	

	

	

	1





	Western weka

	

	1

	1

	





	Weka

	

	2

	2

	3





	Rail

	

	2

	2

	1





	Takahe

	1

	1

	

	





	Southern black backed gull

	

	1

	1

	





	New Zealand pigeon

	1

	1+3=4

	3

	1





	South Island kaka

	1

	1

	

	1





	Yellow crowned parakeet

	

	

	

	1





	Tui

	1

	1+2=3

	2

	





	South Island kokako

	

	

	

	2





	Extinct goose

	

	1

	1

	1





	Extinct duck

	

	1

	1

	





	

	—

	—

	—

	—





	
Total

	15

	88

	73

	50





	
Overall Total = 136.

	

	

	

	








* For scientific names of birds, see Appendix.










Victoria University of Wellington Library




Nelson Historical Society Journal, Volume 3, Issue 4, September 1978

Also present: Dinornis torosus (Hutton) — Anomalopteryx didiformis (Owen) — species larger than Anomalopteryx didiformis (Owen)







Also present: 
Dinornis torosus (Hutton)


Anomalopteryx didiformis (Owen)

species larger than 
Anomalopteryx didiformis (Owen)


As is generally the case in the seasonal analysis of New Zealand archaeological assemblages of bird bone, the spring and summer exploitation is the most strongly represented. Thus in the final analysis, mid-spring to summer and early winter exploitation are suggested.
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Sea Mammals




Sea Mammals


In layer 4, Smith (n.d.) has identified fur seals, sea lions, leopard seal and possibly an elephant seal. There are eleven fur seals present. Their age and sex characteristics provide possible indications of both summer and winter occupation. Though the evidence strongly suggests a summer exploitation, there is some reason to suspect hunting of this species may have occurred at more than one time of the year.
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Summary of Layer Four




Summary of Layer Four


The evidence for summer exploitation of fish, birds and sea mammals is strong, but there is also a body of evidence to suggest at least some activity on the site through into late autumn/early winter. It is a failing of the probability methods used in the study that species most probably caught in winter cannot be definitely identified as such unless their distribution in the area is exclusive to the winter period.
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Layer Two (Later Occupation) Fish





Layer Two (Later Occupation) 
Fish


See Figure 1 for maximum minimum numbers of species identified. Of the twenty wetfish species identified in Layer 2, snapper (32.1% of total number of individuals) and barracouta (21.6%) are the most common. The former is a spring-summer indicator of exploitation, the latter a late autumn, winter and early spring indicator. Of the total assemblage 45.6% of total number of individuals are thought to indicate spring and summer exploitation, while 41.3% are thought to indicate late autumn, winter and early spring. The remainder can be caught with equal probability throughout the year. It is suggested that the fish bone from layer 2 represents an exploitation of wetfish throughout the year. Autumn and winter indicators are more in evidence with barracouta, red cod, tarakihi and blue cod constituting a large proportion of the total.










Victoria University of Wellington Library




Nelson Historical Society Journal, Volume 3, Issue 4, September 1978

Birds




Birds


Of the twenty-four species identified in this layer, 50% are maritime birds, 29.2% forest birds and 20.8% are wetland birds. Spring and summer exploitation is indicated by the penguins, shags, prion, petrel, sooty shearwater, juvenile heron, ducks, New Zealand falcon and South Island kaka. Autumn and winter exploitation is indicated by the weka, mollyhawk, New Zealand pigeon and yellow-crowned 

parakeet. The little shag is available and equally exploitable all year round.


Evidence is present for exploitation at all seasons if it is assumed that species are taken at the time when they are most easily exploited or when they are in their best condition. Best (1942:156) suggests that there was a clearly defined secondary bird catching period when birds which had reached their best condition during autumn were taken. In this category he especially notes pigeon, kaka and tui.
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Sea Mammals


Smith (n.d.:3) has identified a sea lion, one other large sea mammal (though he is unable to identify it to species level) and two fur seals. This small number of individuals makes any conclusions very tentative using presently available methods of analysis. Smith (ibid: 15) has suggested winter exploitation of the fur seals and sea lion as the most probable interpretation. With the sea lion, however, there is the possibility that prehistoric distribution may have been different to that at present.
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Summary of Layer Two


From the wetfish, birds and sea mammals present, this assemblage has given a much stronger evidence for winter occupation than the layer 4 assemblage. Summer occupation is also strongly evidenced by wetfish species and birds. It is therefore suggested that there is sufficient evidence from the faunal component of layer 2 to document activity at Rotokura during all seasons of the year. This does not mean nor infer that the site was permanently occupied throughout the year. A full excavation report is necessary before such an assessment could be attempted since without this the extent of structures for permanent occupation cannot be assessed. Also a knowledge of sites associated with Rotokura would be a crucial element in any final analysis of the site.
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Discussion


The exploitation of available food sources by the prehistoric Maori in Tasman Bay is shown to be wide ranging by the analysis of the faunal material at Rotokura. If we were to add the organic materials which do not survive (e.g. berries) the range is even more extensive. The fish species present are evidence of both shore and canoe fishing, with the possibility of nets and line fishing. The sea also yielded a wide range of shellfish. Though these have not been analysed, initial observations suggest that both rocky and sandy shore species are present in both periods. Trends relating to shellfish species cannot be discussed without further work on the material


The bird material, represented by forty species (if layers 6, 4 and 2 are taken together) also demonstrates a wide ranging exploitation. In addition to these there are three species of moa present. Several other extinct species are identified, including a duck and a 

swan. While the birds were probably most abundant in the summer months, research has shown that some species would have provided excellent food in the winter. In the later period the maritime species appear to be the mainstay, with forest and wetland birds forming a supportive role. However, this may be a biased view, with some species being taken, cooked or eaten at other more specialized sites or in other areas of the site than those excavated.


Smith (n.d.:10) suggests that the butchering pattern of the sea lions in the early periods indicates the presence of a colony close to the site. He also notes (ibid.:11) that the fur seals were not butchered on the site and that it is likely to have been some distance from Rotokura. A possibility is the rocky north coast of Pepin Island.


The Polynesian dog also provided a food source at Rotokura. Layer 4 has a maximum minimum number of eight, while layer 2 has sixteen. The dogs range in age from five to six weeks to older than eighteen months. Ages are based on tooth eruption and bone growth. The dog bone at Rotokura is thought to result from the exploitation of the species for food and artefact manufacture. It is suggested that dogs at Rotokura could have provided a valuable food supply if seasonal food supplies were interrupted by unusual climatic occurences, or in periods of transition from one season to another.


The human bone from Rotokura was analysed by Dr P. Houghton, Department of Anatomy, Medical School, University of Otago. Two adult persons are thought to be represented: one, a robust male about thirty years of age; the other, a female who appears to fall within the same parameters—Polynesian, aged about thirty years. The cranial material has been deliberately cut, presumably for the purpose of making artefacts. Millar (pers. comm., 1977) has suggested that the scattered appearance of the material during the excavation suggested the result of violent death. Dr Houghton was not able to confirm that the deaths of the individuals were the result of violence.
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Conclusion


The Rotokura midden represents an exloitation pattern which involved wide spectrum hunting and fishing in the Cable Bay area. A trend towards a year round activity at the site has been documented (Butts, n.d.). The early period lacks conclusive evidence for winter activity, while the later period has more substantial evidence that winter activity was undertaken. Fishing, fowling, sealing and the consumption of Polynesian dog all formed essential (if proportionally changing) elements in the subsistence economics of the Rotokura inhabitants. The variety of species present in the midden at Rotokura suggests a far more varied diet than New Zealanders eat today. It is also worth noting that as a consequence of forest destruction, seal over-kill, and the suspected damaging effect of commercial fishing on fish supplies, it would be impossible to live the same life style within the same area at the present time.
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Scientific Names of Fish Species






	Snapper

	
Chrysophrys auratus





	Barracouta

	
Thyristes atun





	Rough leather jacket

	
Navodon convexirostris





	Red cod

	
Physiculus bachus





	Tarakihi

	
Cheilodactylus macropterus





	Blue moki

	
Latridopsis ciliaris





	Ling

	
Genypterus blacodes





	Blue cod

	
Papapercis colias





	Conger eel

	
Conger verreauxi





	Shorttail stingray

	
Dasyatis brevicaudatus





	Sea perch

	
Helicolenus papillosus





	Red gurnard

	
Chelidonichthys kumu





	Greenbone

	
Coridax pullus





	Freshwater eel

	
Anguilla spp.





	Trevally

	
Caranx lutescens





	Kahawai

	
Arripus trutta





	Southern dogfish

	
Squalus cf. acanthias





	Eagle ray

	
Myliobatus tenuicaudatus





	Common mackerel

	
Scamber japonicus












Scientific Names of Bird Species






	South Island brown kiwi

	
Apteryx a. australis





	Southern blue penquin

	
Eudyptula m. minor





	Blue penguin

	
Eudyptula minor subsp.





	Fiordland crested penguin

	
Eudyptes p. pachyrhynchus





	Erect crested penguin

	
Eudyptes pachyrhynchus sclateri





	Crested penguin

	
Eudyptes pachyrhynchus sp.





	Mollymawk

	
Diomedea cauta subspp.





	Prion

	
Pachyptila sp.





	Australian gannet

	
Sula bassana serrator





	Sooty shearwater

	
Puffinus griseus





	Fluttering shearwater

	
Puffinus g. gavia





	Huttons shearwater

	
Puffinus huttoni





	Black shag

	
Phalacrocorax carbo novaehollandiae





	Pied shag

	
Phalacrocorax v. varius





	King shag

	
Leucocarbo c. carunculatus





	Little shag

	
Phalacrocorax melanoleucos brevirostris





	Spotted shag

	
Stictocarbo p. punctatus





	Duck

	
Anas sp.





	Swan

	
Anser sp.





	Extinct swan

	
Cnemiornis calcitrans





	New Zealand falcon

	
Falco novaeseelandiae





	Western weka

	
Gallirallus a. australis





	Weka

	
Gallirallus australis sp.





	Rail

	
Gallirallus minor





	Takahe

	
Notornis mantelli





	Southern black backed gull

	
Larus dominicanus





	New Zealand pigeon

	
Hemiphaga n. novaeseelandiae





	South Island kaka

	
Nestor m. meridionalis





	Yellow crowned parakeet

	
Cyanoramphus a. auriceps





	Tui

	
Prosthemadora nu novaeseelandiae





	South Island kokako

	
Callaeas c. cinerea





	Extinct goose

	
Cygnus sumnerensis





	Extinct duck

	
Euryanas finschi
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Early Tide to Wakapuaka


By P. V. and N. L. Wastney.


This publication is particularly welcome as it is the first devoted entirely to the early history of European settlement in Wakapuaka.


Edmund Wastney came to Nelson with Captain Arthur Wakefield in 1841, and a few months later his wife, Lucy, arrived on the Lloyds. There have always been many of their descendants in Wakapuaka and it is appropriate that a husband and wife team with their name should have written this account of early days.


In a foreword Mr J. N. W. Newport explains that much background material was available from the Lyall Hodgson papers and that publication of the book was assisted by a legacy from Mr Hodgson.


The new arrivals in Wakapuaka appreciated the kindly climate and fine outlook of their new home but they had many hardships to face. There were problems of acquisition and development of the land. They faced strenuous physical tasks to provide homes, communication and essential commodities. Sawyers, carpenters, bricklayers, blacksmiths, flaxdressers, ropemakers and others could make use of their special skills, but some, unused to hard manual labour, faced such unfamiliar work as clearing land and fencing, with determination and persistence. How they did these tasks is told with vivid detail so that their personal hardships and progress are clearly realised.


Of special interest is the account of the progress made over many years in draining the Great Swamp, originally a wilderness of flax and rushes often covered with water. Some never recovered the cost, but future generations now own prosperous dairy farms in this area.


Flax dressing and rope making were carried on in several localities. The industry did not flourish for long but a race made by James Mackay to supply water for a flax dressing plant was used to provide water for several homes until recently.


A full account is given of the confrontation in Happy Valley with chief Paremata, and its satisfactory outcome. A happy contrast in relationships is the story of Hemi Matenga and his wife, the heroic Huria.


At the local Inn a room was made available by the landlord for public meetings: to elect representatives to the Provincial Council, 

to decide on schools for the growing population and other district affairs. When three schools were built each became a centre for social life.


The book is amply supplied with varied photographs and two maps, one, showing the first sections allotted, being of special interest when used in connection with the text.


The history ends with the 19th century, when pioneering days were past.




—K. M. Dodson









Motueka — An Archaeological Survey


by Aidan J. Challis.




("The purpose of this book is to examine the archaeological evidence of Maori occupation of the Motueka district in the period before European settlement. It is hoped that the account will prove of interest to people of the Nelson region, as well as those further afield with a knowledge of archaeology.")


(preface)




This volume is the seventh New Zealand Archaeological Association Monograph. Excellent presentation by the publishers (in both hard and soft cover), with high quality maps and drawings by the author support an informative text covering a wide range of archaeological evidence.


The five chapters which discuss: (1) archaeology in general, environment and tradition; (2) settlements and structures; (3) artefacts and chronology; (4) subregional characteristics; and (5) conclusions of the study; form a coherent narrative. Dr Challis is able to demonstrate with clarity the considerable value of archaeological site surveying and surface collecting carried out in a systematic manner under the auspices of the Historic Places Trust.


The subregions of the Motueka area discussed by Dr Challis are Sandy Bay, Kaiteriteri, Riwaka, Motueka, Moutere, Mapua and the Motueka Valley. Within these areas the site types located were fortified pa, middens and ovens, cultivation sites, pits and terraces, burials and stone working areas. Artefacts are discussed under three major categories: ornaments and weapons, food producing equipment, and adzes.


The research done in order to write this book was undertaken while Dr Challis was a teacher at Motueka High School during 1974 and 1975 and a Post Doctoral Research Fellow at Auckland University in 1976. The absence of archaeological excavation in the Motueka district to support the conclusions offered in the book should provide stimulation for further archaeological research.


New Zealand archaeological publications are few in number. The people of the Nelson District and the wider New Zealand public are fortunate to have access to this work by Dr Challis. It will go some way towards fostering an informed attitude to prehistoric studies and this can only enhance the work of the New Zealand Historic Places Trust in preserving New Zealand's heritage.




—David J. Butts
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Christmas 1862 at the Mouth of the Buller River


Margaret C. Brown


By Christmas 1862 the little settlement at the mouth of the Buller had survived for some eighteen months. Gold had been found, first by some Maoris, who were soon followed by that ever hopeful storekeeper, Reuben Waite, by diggers, by other storekeepers and by two gallant wives. Life was a hard and uncertain struggle. A ship might call once in a while, but, on several occasions starvation was far too close for comfort and incredible journeys were made to beg for a supply ship. They had even been visited by the new Superintendent Robinson (who was to lose his life later in the Buller) accompanied by a party of surveyors who had sailed in one of "those horrid little boats" as one wife described the coastal steamers. Later, when a party had made the journey to Nelson in an open whaleboat to seek supplies, the Superintendent despatched a boat but is reported to have remarked that if people chose to live in such out of the way places they must not expect the Government to assist them.


By December 1862 things were definitely looking up. The Waimangaroa had seen a small gold rush, and the first wheeled vehicle had been seen on the Coast. The gallant Dr S. S. ……………………. had transported goods and his wife by wheelbarrow! James Burnett had given a good report on the coal in the area, but all this was forgotten when a party of Maoris penetrated beyond the "Old Diggings" and found nuggets at Lyell. The newspaper, the Colonist, had "Our Own Correspondent" on the spot, and he described the scene at the mouth of the river: "A person just landed here would think it was a large boat or rather canoe building yard—canoes in all directions. Two or three capsized in the Upper Buller which is very difficult. Diggers say a hundred pounds ($200) laid out in cutting tracks in dangerous places would save many lives. There is no telling what may happen to the inexperienced……Maoris go where Europeans would not go and persevere under difficulties.


"We had a very merry Christmas here, Europeans and Maoris hand in glove, no quarrelling. The Maori Chiefs gave a large dinner to all hands, both white and Maori, and a very good dinner they had for this place. Sucking pig, fowl, beef, plum pudding, fruit pies, etc. After dinner old Tamati Piramana, the Chief rose and all with him and gave the health of the Queen and three hearty cheers. I must not forget the canoe races—a beautiful sight." There were separate canoe races for Maoris with the first prize $10 for each, and a footrace which was won by a Maori. The day ended with a Maori War dance.
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Alton Street



(The writing of this article was suggested by Miss G. Bisley. Much of the material was supplied by Mr B. E. Dickinson, author of Street Names of Nelson. Other sources are: New Zealand's First Railway by A. N. Palmer, numbers of the Examiner and Colonist newspapers, and Misses Bisley and Burton).





[image: From an early painting attributed to Charles Heaphy. The Overhead Pipe-line along Alton Street is clearly visible crossing Hardy Street to the Mill at the Eel Pond(Nelson Provincial Museum)]
From an early painting attributed to Charles Heaphy. The Overhead Pipe-line along Alton Street is clearly visible crossing Hardy Street to the Mill at the Eel Pond

(Nelson Provincial Museum)




Alton Street is one of the shortest streets in Nelson, running between Hardy and Manuka Streets, but it has a history of considerable interest, in fact of uncommon curiosities. It is as old as any street in the city, eight original "town acres" were surveyed along it, but as they all had a boundary on another street, none appear as Alton Street sections. As soon as "town acres" were surveyed there was considerable interest in the naming of "city streets." Meetings and discussions were held and a Street Naming Committee appointed. This duly met in the office of the surveyor (a tent) on Church Hill in March 1842, and the first names chosen commemorated the career of Lord Nelson. At the second meeting on 31 March Alton Street was among the names approved.


The reason for the choice is presumed to be connected with the first death in the new settlement. One of the Company's labourers, 

Thomas Cresswell, died of typhoid fever and was buried on Fifeshire or Haulashore Island. There is now no trace of his grave, but his native town was Alton in Hampshire, near Chawton, the home of Jane Austin. Captain Wakefield records in his diary on 22 November, 1841: "Thomas Cresswell departed this life at half-past eight. He has been for some time in a hopeless state from a low fever. He was a well-behaved, steady man, and came from the neighbourhood of Alton near Hampshire."


In an early painting of Nelson attributed to Heaphy, Alton Street can be readily recognised by a line of posts which carried an elevated water-race from the Brook in Manuka Street down the centre of the road and across Hardy Street to provide water power for the flour mill situated at the "eel pond" (now the pond in Queen's Gardens). In May 1844 some leading citizens had formed the Nelson Flour Milling Company and duly decided on a suitable site. Some flour had been imported from Australia, but as soon as land could be cleared and cultivated the settlers planted small areas of wheat which was cut with a sickle, threshed with a flail, and ground into coarse meal for breadmaking. Some lucky settlers owned a hand mill, others had to use a pestle and mortar, while Sarah Higgins records that in some neighbourhoods coffee mills were bolted on poles and used in turn by the settlers. It was therefore felt that the Flour Mill was of great importance to the future of the colony. The public were invited to take up shares, Fox was elected Chairman of Directors and A. G. Jenkins was secretary. The estimated cost of the mill was four hundred pounds ($800), but as usual, the final figure was higher than expected. On 24 June, 1845, the Examiner reported that the mill "was got to be working fairly satisfactorily" and the "Directors regaled the shareholders with a luncheon of bread and cheese and beer, all the produce of the settlement, and we might challenge any of the southern colonies to produce cheer as good." Indeed an entry in a diary described the party as being "very merry." A barrel of Hooper's ale was given by the Directors, a cheese by Mr Otterson, and loaves were baked from the Mill flour."


All, however, did not run smoothly and before long we read that "essential additions and repairs would require the superintendence of Mr Campbell who alone understood them." Matthew Campbell was a miller by trade who is remembered for his services to education, but he played a part in feeding bodies as well as minds, for he and A. G. Jenkins took over the lease of the mill from September 1845.


For some seventeen years the overhead water-race remained, sometimes leaking, sometimes decorated with icicles and sometimes causing serious complaints as when a young lady on horseback was gently cantering (as was the custom of young ladies of the time) along Hardy Street. The horse shied while under the "spout" and threw its "rider with violence to the ground." Fortunately no serious injury was sustained. On another occasion a rider on a tall horse failed to "duck" at the correct moment and was stunned by the 

fall. The Examiner decided it was "high time that such an obstruction in one of the principal streets of the city was removed." In 1862 it was reported that Mr Campbell was putting the mill lead underground and was waiting only for the pipes to arrive. These must be securely covered with three inches (7cm) of gravel for the whole width of Hardy Street, along Alton Street and for the whole width of Nile Street.


Not everyone was objecting to the overhead water-race, J. C. Richmond who had recently come to Nelson from Taranaki, must have lived in or near Alton Street as he wrote in a letter: "The pattering of the water that leaks out of the acqueduct has a soft soothing sound as good as a fountain in a garden of terraces and statues, and the acqueduct has a primitive old world look which makes me regret to hear that the progress of improvement and of the Dun Mountain Railway is soon to remove it."


Certainly the next excitement for Alton Street was the constructing of the Dun Mountain Railway, famous as the first railway in New Zealand. It was planned to take ore from the Dun Mountain Mine to the Port of Nelson. A Company had been formed in England to exploit the mine and experienced engineers were sent out to plan and build the railway. An act was passed by Parliament on 17 August, 1861, the line to be from Albion Wharf at the Port, via Haven Road, Waimea, Hardy, Alton, Manuka and Brook Streets, across Manuka Road and thence through "other lands" to section 35 on the Company's property. So no sooner was the overhead watercourse removed than Alton Street had, along one side, a three foot (1m) gauge railway which was to carry loads of copper and chrome to the Port. It was a railway without engines, the loaded trucks were brought down the hill by gravity, then towed by horses. The empty trucks were pulled up hill by the same horse power.


The opening of the Railway was a gala day for Nelson. It was held on 3 February, 1862, and so was combined with the celebrations of the twentieeth anniversary of the Province. At noon the first train left the Company's yard in Brook Street for the Port. We can imagine the gay passage along Alton Street which was decorated with archways of flags, banners and mottoes. There were eight wagons containing sixteen tons of ore, led by one conveying the Brass Band and others filled with passengers, the train was drawn by horses at a speed which was not to exceed four miles (7km) an hour. After the ore was discharged at the Port the workmen who had built the line were entertained at a "cold collation" at the Masonic Hall. It was sad that the copper was not sufficient for a profitable export, and that the promising trade in chrome was stopped by the American Civil War which threw the Lancashire Cotton Mills out of work and ended the demand for chrome which was used in dying cloth.


For some time the line was used to bring down firewood which was stacked and cut up on the site of the Central School, the sawmill being worked by a horse. The affairs of the Company were wound up in 1872, and the rails later shipped to Blenheim to be used on the 

Blenheim-Picton Railway. In November of that year the Bishop of Nelson was driving along Alton Street in his buggy when it collided with a wagon loaded with rails. The accident was described as serious. The City to Port section of the line continued to be used as a horse-tramway for many years.


While the flour mill and the railway were developing people were living in Alton Street which had been improved in various ways. The Nelson Board of Works had made a footpath in 1862 and in 1869 had employed prisoners to straighten the course of the Brook Stream from Nile Street to Manuka Street and to build a footbridge at Manuka Street. In 1862 there had been a court case, an inspection had shown that the rails in the northern part of the street were a foot (30cm) above the road, and also too high at Campbell's corner. Later in the year the offices of the Dun Mountain Railway in Alton Street were broken into and a passenger carriage damaged—a reward of ten pounds ($20) was offered for information.


It seems likely that most of the eight town acre sections were originally allotted to absentee owners as the New Zealand Company's list of section holders (about 1845) gives a number of names, but most are described as "squatters." The early settlers were permitted to build where they pleased or to "squat" on any convenient land and later to make arrangements with the owner to either remove the house or to pay rent. These first houses were raupo huts or small mud houses. Matthew Campbell lived in a fairly small house on section 427—on the right hand corner of Hardy and Alton Streets. A pathway led to Hardy Street, and the section was planted with beautiful trees, including two loquats which were there for many years. He has been mentioned in connection with the flour mill, but is remembered mainly for his work in education. He was a deeply religious man who was concerned for the welfare and education of the less privileged. His work started on board the "Thomas Harrison" where he conducted classes for children and adults during the long voyage. In Nelson he was associated with the founding of undenominational Sunday Schools, and from this the Nelson School Society developed and controlled most of the education until it was taken over by the Provincial Council. In 1844 the first building to be owned by the Society was opened near the "eel pond." The stone part of this building was later used as the School of Mines and still later formed part of the Suter Art Gallery—it will shortly be demolished to make room for extensions. On a Sunday Mr Campbell would walk many miles visiting the various schools. Later his house was owned by Mrs Diment, and on the Hardy Street side of it was another house built by Mr Moore and later occupied by Mr Austin Bisley of the well known firm of Bisley Bros. Auctioneers and Merchants. This house has recently been demolished to make way for extensions to the Polytech.


Acre 426, on the corner of Nile Street was owned by the Catholic Church and sold by Father Garin in 1861 so that he could buy land elsewhere, presumably in Manuka Street. The Post Office, fish shop 

and store now stand on this site.


Across Nile Street section 506 was owned by Frederick Schumaker who was on the 1851 jurors list as a cabinet maker. It is said the first known use of this land was as a burial ground for horses and that when Mr Schumaker took it over it was covered with poisonus tutu which he had to remove. He grew wheat on it and later established a cherry orchard—most attractive to small boys. Legend has it that the loquat trees which surrounded the orchard or their seed was given to him by Sir George Grey and that they came originally from the Cape of Good Hope. He lived in a small mud cottage. His grand-daughter who inherited the property did not wish it to be sub-divided so it was sold to the Education Board and became the site of the Central School.


The next section, 500, extending to Manuka Street, is now part of the school playground, but older residents remember when part of it belonged to what is known as Renwick House, and the corner section was a croquet lawn. Mrs Renwick, who lived there till about 1920, was reckoned to be a resident of Alton Street. The drive, which was the main entrance to the house curved in through trees and shrubs to the front of the house and round to the stables near the present entrance from Manuka Street. The property has a long and interesting history. The house was built for W. F. Maiben, but was bought by the Trust Fund in 1851 as a temporary home for Nelson College and occupied by the first headmaster, Rev. J. C. Bagshaw, and a few boarders. A schoolroom was built behind it. When a College building on the present site was completed the house was occupied by Nathaniel Edwards until it was bought by Sir David Monro. He altered it and incorporated the schoolroom in the main building and named it "Newstead." Here he entertained Sir George Grey to dinner and a private Ball and a later Governor, Sir James Ferguson, stayed there. Dr Renwick, well known as a doctor, pastoralist and local politician bought the house after Monro's death but died three years later. His widow lived in it for many years. Older residents remembered the beautiful garden, especially the spring bulbs and her generosity with her flowers.


On the left hand side of Alton Street section 425, on the corner of Hardy Street, was granted by Sir George Grey in 1851 to Constantine Dillon. There is no specific mention of it in Dillon's published letters, he does mention a town house but it could have been on another section. As on the other side of the street there were a number of squatters in the early days. The 1899 Stone's Directory names George Batchelor, a bootmaker, as the occupier of the first house. Next was David Jack, a joiner, who may have built No. 3. The present No. 7 was Edward Atmore's residence. He owned a fruit shop in Hardy Street and the area in front of the house was used as a market garden. His son, Harry Atmore, M.P., lived there until he married and built a home on the hill. Not only was he Nelson's Member for many years, he also has the distinction of being an Independent member who attained Cabinet rank. In 1929 the 
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Liberal Party was reorganised as the United Party under the leadership of the aging Sir Joseph Ward and, to the surprise of many, won a landslide victory. Mr Atmore voted with the United Party end was made Minister of Education though he retained his independent status. When the Depression worsened and a Coalition was formed he was replaced. He remained Nelson's Member till his death in 1947.


The two-storeyed house in that block was built as a boarding house. In 1899 it was kept by Mrs Akers who had a number of lodgers, many of them apprentices or journeymen as they were called. There were several small houses, and on the corner of Nile Street, on section 424 is Griffin's factory. This section was advertised for sale in 1866, the land "plus engine house and buildings, including biscuit making machinery." Perhaps the purchaser was John Griffin. He had come to Nelson in 1855 with his wife and seven children and commenced business in Trafalgar Street in a bakery shop near the present Municipal Building. He moved to Christchurch but later returned to Nelson to start as a flour miller and wood and coal dealer on the present site. Two of his sons carried on the business till the building was totally destroyed by fire in 1894. Unfortunately there was no insurance, and to obtain capital a public company was formed In 1897 chocolate making machinery was installed—this activity adding a delicious aroma to the street. Another unfortunate fire occurred in 1903, after which the present brick factory was erected. The firm expanded and built up a reputation for biscuit making over the years. In 1938 this part of the business was transferred to Lower Hutt.


On the opposite corner of Alton and Nile Street there still stands a house that was built about 1865 for Henry Hounsell, a Wine and General Merchant of Bridge Street. In 1877 it was bought by Mrs Mary Gibbs and occupied by her and her family until 1905. Arangements had been made for the family to emigrate to New Zealand and when her husband died before the sailing date, Mrs Gibbs carried on, courageously facing the task of bringing her nine children to an unkown land in the ill-fated "Queen Bee." After a comparatively pleasant voyage the boat was wrecked at Farewell Spit and the passengers had to take to the lifeboats. The family was separated and it was some days before she knew that her children were all safe. When she settled at the corner of Alton and Nile Streets there were plenty of paddocks for the children to play in and they could attend the near-by Bishops' School. Her son, Frederick, was the first headmaster of the new Central School, he was also prominent in all cultural and many business activities in the City. The handsome trees round the playground were planted by him.


The Atkinson Observatory stood in Alton Street for nearly twenty years. After the death of her husband Mrs Atkinson thought it a pity that his telescope was not being used and it was through the good offices of F. G. Gibbs that it was loaned and finally made over to the Nelson Institute. At first Gibbs intended to place it in the 

school grounds, but the site granted by the Education Board was too close to the trees, so it was placed in Alton Street opposite No. 31 and a small building erected to house it. From April 1903 many people came on clear nights to view the stars and to learn something of astronomy. Later the growth of trees and the erection of more buildings made the site unsuitable and the Observatory was moved in 1923. Between Nile and Manuka Street stood Dr Boor's house. He had been Superintendent of the Public Hospital for many years. Until recently the house was occupied by his daughters and grand-daughter. The street was always on two levels, at one time with a strip of rank grass down the middle—used by small girls to graze their pet lambs. A Beautifying Society, consisting largely of residents, later planted the attractive trees which are a feature of the street today. As in many parts of Nelson there is charm in the mixture of old, not so old and more modern dwellings. Many people who have not been mentioned have lived along the street in past years, playing their part in building the life of the city. While we are interested in those who have made notable contributions to our history we would also remember the others who have lived more humble lives. History is made by ordinary folk as well as by leaders.
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Stoke

What is in a Name?


Visitors to Stoke possibly wonder just how the locality came to receive its name and why roads came to be called Nayland Road, Polstead Road, Songer Street and, a little further afield, Torlesse Street.


The New Zealand Company records simply refer to the locality as Suburban South but the name of Brook Green was adopted by the settlers. This appears to have been dropped following the transfer of school administration from the Nelson School Society to the Nelson Board of Education in 1858.


The name of Stoke was given by William Songer who was the first settler here. He came from Stoke-by-Nayland in Suffolk (in the sheep country of East Anglia). Polstead was a nearby village.


When the New Zealand Company's Second Settlement (Nelson) Expedition ships were leaving England the farewell sermon was preached by the Vicar of Stoke-by-Nayland, the Rev. C. M. Torlesse. Charles Torlesse, brother of Harriet Bridges, went to Stoke in 1823. His wife, Catherine Gurney (born 1793), was the eldest child of Edward Wakefield and so was a sister of the Wakefields who founded the New Zealand Company settlements. Their eldest son, also Charles, came out with the Nelson Expedition and later was a surveyor, more notably in Canterbury.


William Songer who had been the gardener at Stoke-by-Nayland came out as a personal attendant upon Captain Wakefield, while his 

wife, who had been the nurse who brought up (he Torlesse family, came out as a matron on one of the emigrant ships.


Mrs Torlesse owned land in New Zealand which was cared for by Songer and she used to send out seeds for him to plant. It is reasonable to believe that some of the old trees in the area owe their origin to this source.


Shortly after his master's death at the Wairau Songer settled on Section 51 Suburban South, owned by Rev. C. Torlesse, whose young son, the improver C. O. Torlesse was then being cared for by him. Songer named the district Stoke after the English village, Stoke-by-Nayland, the home of the Torlesse family. He soon built a mud cottage and began to farm, growing barley and potatoes and running cattle and pigs judge Broad in his jubilee History names Songer as neing one of the Expedition men still alive in 1892.


Relationships were maintained between the people at Stoke, Nelson, and the people of Stoke-by-Nayland and this link was further cemented by the gift of a beil. There is reference in the newspaper 
Examiner of December 10, 1864, to a gift for the church which was being built. The bell was a gift from Charles Ricketts Rowley, Bart., of Tendring Hall, Stoke-by-Nayland. It was manufactured by Messrs John Warner and Sons, Jewin Crescent, London, and arrived in New Zealand on the 
Anne Longton with all fittings complete. The inscription on the bell, "Come let us go into the House of the Lord," was written for the founders by the Archdeacon Vicar of Stoke-by-Nayland, the Rev. C. M. Torlesse. The bell is still in use.




—J.N.W.N.
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Songer's River

(A story of early stoke)


B. E. Dickinson


Years after William Wadsworth had settled in the Waimea he could still remember vividly his first trip there as a boy in 1843. One incident he recalled was his encounter with the "big ditch" at Stoke.


In his own words, "about the beginning of February 1843 we moved with a number of families to Wakefield. My father and I and Mr Young started in the morning. The three of us walked until we got to a swamp about Stoke where a big ditch was cut across the road. The men jumped over but I was not so lucky and landed in the ditch, where 1 had to stop until my father came back and pulled me out."


Today the ditch has grown into the small stream that flows from Isel Park out under the main road at Stoke to lose itself among the trees and shrubs at the side of the Fire Station.


The story starts in 1842 when Captain Wakefield found that it was impossible to build his Trunk Road to the Waimeas because of the swamps round Stoke, fn order to drain the swamp at Isel he put 

on a gang of men under Mr Kenning to dig a ditch from the stream in Isel Park straight down to the road so that the water could flow across the road into the lower part of Stoke out of the way of traffic. It was known for years as the "Company Ditch." I imagine is ran from about the iron gates at ihe Isel Park entrance down to the main road as this part of the stream still runs in a fairly straight line.


Before this the water from this stream used to spread out like a delta and run in little streams across the whole of the Cawthron land (now Greenmeadows Park). Old residents remembered that it even flowed across Songer Street past the old sawmill and through the Ranui sub-division to cross the Main Road near Ryrie's store. Once across the road it crossed Strawbidge's land, ran through the old racecourse and down Songer Street through Wearing's and Chisnall's until it reached the sea at Monaco. Even today, if you look behind the Stoke Police Station you will see what appears to be part of an old channel of this stream.


This was the stream that Wakefield wished to control when he put Kenning and a party of labourers on the job in 1842. Apparently the straight channel they dug from the Main Road up to the Isel Gates delighted the Poorman's Valley Stream which roared down its new bed with gusto in flood time, cutting chunks from each bank in turn and depositing huge mounds of gravel. It became so large that the engineer for the Provincial Council recommended the construction of a high level bridge over it This was in the 1854–55 Report and Estimates, but it is hard to know whether this recommendation was adopted, as bridges seem to have been built on this site and to have disappeared again.


The gravel in the bed of ihe stream was a source of satisfaction to the Waimea District Road Board who were always short of road metal and who were not slow to capitalise on this windfall. In fact their surveyor, T. J. Thompson, regarded the stream as one of his main sources of gravel and proposed that the stream should be widened to at least twelve feet at the bottom to obtain more gravel. Mr Marsden, the owner of the land, was not altogether happy at the thought of his land being used as a gravel reserve but his protests and 
a threat to raise the price he charged for the gravel were met by the Waimea Road Board with a flat declaration that they had the power to enter his land and take the metal. Quite substantial amounts were taken too, as in one transaction alone, in 1861, one hundred dray loads were uplifted.


To the residents of Stoke in the eighteen Fifties the stream flowing down the new channel became a bugbear, a nuisance that upset everyone, especially in flood time, when huge volumes of water and piles of gravel flowed on to the main road. The ford, too, for the bridge had gone again, was now extremely dangerous and troublesome as its bed continually changed and often big boulders were encountered. No wonder then, that the Examiner contained angry letters from irate Stoke residents who felt that the Provincial Council 

should do something about it. The earliest letter was written to the Editor in May 1856:












Sir,




The principal road in the district—Nelson to Richmond—bears evidence of a lack of forethought. Take for instance the abominable place known as "Songer's River," a place where there have been more accidents than in all the district from Nelson to Wairoa. While Songer's River is but a chain wide where the bridge used to be (once there was a bridge but it was swept away in a flood more than six years ago), horses have been injured, carts capsized, a man washed down stream. Mr Songer could tell more. Why cannot we have a bridge over Songer's River? The public will have to trespass on Mr Marsden's private property in driving to and from Nelson.




Yours etc.,


A. Stoker.












The stream seems to have grown wider than the twelve feet mentioned by T. J. Thompson but I should imagine that the ford and the sloping approaches on either side could make the obstacle a chain wide. There must have been some big floods in those days or else the letter writer was exaggerating somewhat.


Apparently nothing much followed from this letter in May 1856, and the winter dragged on until a year later a second exaggerating writer took up the attack. The Examiner printed this letter also.












The Editor,


Sir,




Will you permit me through the medium of your paper to call the attention of the Road Inspector to the state of the road or ford at the brook near the schoolhouse, Stoke. It is bad enough at the best of times, but since the late weather it has been worse than usual. On Saturday last, the Richmond Van came to a deadlock while crossing the brook, and the passengers, much to their gratification, of course, were obliged to turn out. On the Tuesday following, a loaded cart, with two women on top, was tilted up, some of the goods falling into the water, while the women, frightened enough had to walk to Nelson. About an hour or two afterwards, another loaded cart came to a sudden stop and must have remained in the brook all night, had not a neighbour brought assistance in the shape of four bullocks. In fact, scarcely a day passes, without some stoppage, mishap or breakdown, while the extra blows which the poor bullocks get at this particular spot is in itself, sufficient reason for something being done. A bridge, of course, is 

what is wanted, but as that appears at present out of the question, I would suggest, as an expedient, that an engagement be made to someone in the neighbourhood to fill up the holes with a load or two of stones whenever required.




I am,


An Observer,


Stoke, September 5th, 1857.










The Stoke School mentioned here was opened in 1845 almost on the north bank of this stream but was moved in 1851 to where the Church of St. Barnabas now stands. Apparently the school had been built on the wrong piece of land and the Crown Grants issued in the eighteen fifties showed that Mr Campbell, its founder, had not owned the land at all. Hence the transfer of the school. At least that is the official reason given for the shift, but I can imagine that Stoke parents would be well pleased to see the school shifted away from the ford. One can only imagine the highly seasoned remarks made by the bullock drivers as they urged their beasts across the rocky bed of the ford, and parents must have listened in horror to the vocabulary used by innocent little children after a period of attendance at the original Stoke School.


In 1858 the school was shifted again, well down the road, to its present position and the Church of St. Barnabas was put in its place. The school was now well out of earshot, but one is not told of the effects of the bullockies' language on the parson, but, of course, he was only there on Sundays. Nelson bullockies' language must have had a considerable robustness about it, differing completely from that used in the neighbouring province of Canterbury where the more highly educated bullock drivers were said to curse their charges in Classical Greek. When Von Haast was returning from Golden Bay in triumph with two bullock loads of moa bones decked with garlands he was shocked to hear the language used by his young fair-haired, blue-eyed bullock driver. The boy explained, naively, that the bullocks could not understand any other language!


However, the letter writer of Stoke had aroused the member of the Provincial Council, for, included in the Government Estimates for 1858, was an item of two hundred and fifty pounds ($500) for the building of a bridge at Stoke. This should have satisfied the Stoke residents but one could not resist a last attack and sent in the following to the Examiner in April of that year.












The Editor,




Will you permit me to say a few words respecting the long-looked for and much-wanted bridge over the ford-way at Stoke. As we are on the verge of having one more added to the number already built and washed away, a few words of caution may not be thought out of place, from one who has been an eye-witness of the same. Two bridges, apparently strong and substantial, have been carried away by the rapidity of the current of water, and that too, when 

part of the stream was diverted from its regular channel by overflowing its bank 150 yards from the ford and finding its way across the plain towards Mr Ward's house.


The current of water has not been as rapid for the past three years but what has been may be again and if the Government should decide to erect a bridge of not more than twelve feet in span, there is no doubt, even were it made of cast iron, that the first heavy flood would send it following the others.


I, myself, have witnessed a horse and cart turned over and carried down the stream for some distance into Mr Songer's land, and I would argue from that instance and others that I could give if necessary, that a span of at least twenty feet is necessary,.




One who has been washed down Stream, Suburban South,

April 12th, 1858.









By May 1st of that year the Editor of the Examiner was happy to print some good news about the ford: "We understand that the Provincial Government has accepted the tender of Mr Gore to construct a timber bridge over the Ford at Stoke, for the sum of one hundred and fifty-five pounds ($310)." At last the residents of Stoke had won their case and no doubt enjoyed their new bridge.


Today it is difficult even to notice the Isel Stream as you enter the heart of Stoke. It runs beneath the roadway in a concrete culvert and the surface of the road above it is no different from any other piece of road. It seems so peaceful and insignificant, but who knows? As the letter writer said—"What has been might be again!"
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Nelson's First Magistrate

Article No. 2.


In The Nelson Historical Society Journal Volume 2, Number 3, something of the life story of H. A. Thompson, Nelson's first magistrate, was published. At the time the article was written it had not been possible to contact any descendants of Thompson but since then new information has emerged. A great-grandson from Australia while on a visit to Nelson called at the Provincial Museum and, in conversation with Mr A. S. Bagley, Museum Director, stated that he had letters and documents which he would be pleased to hand over to the Museum for inclusion in our historical library. These tell something of the man himself and are a welcome addition to our archives.


In writing up any record of Henry Augustus Thompson one is very conscious of the fact that he still appears to be referred to as F. A. Thompson—even in the best historical circles. Surely this must be one of those unusual quirks of English grammar where one spells Henry with a capital F. Unfortunately an error has been made at 

some early stage and the mistake continues to be repeated. There is no doubt about Thompson's correct name in the letters and documents which have been preserved.


Three letters were from John Abel Smith, M.P., a banker and a director of the New Zealand Company, who was writing from London. One was a letter introducing Mr Augustus Thompson to Captain Arthur Wakefield in New Zealand dated July 19, 1841, and read: "My Dear Sir, This letter will be given to you by my particular friend, Mr Augustus Thompson, who sails in a few days for New Zealand with full intention of attaching himself to the fortunes of the second colony. Mr Thompson is a gentleman of eight years standing at the Bar, and of considerable general attainments and from long and intimate acquaintance I can speak with the undoubting confidence of his high and unsullied character and his generous and high minded feelings of independence. I believe he will be a valuable addition to your society……Mr Thompson's particular object at first will be to obtain some Magisterial or Judicial appointment in the Second Colony. He is provided with letters to Captain Hobson……"


A letter from Captain William Hobson, Governor, to Thompson, dated 1 June, 1842, gave details about the matter of making appointments at Nelson including Pilot and Harbourmaster, Postmaster, Magistrate and similar offices. He was also to consult with Captain Wakefield about the appointments. A further letter from J. A. Smith in London was dated May 24th, 1842: "My dear Thompson, This letter will be presented to you by Dr T. Renwick who is going out as surgeon to Nelson……"


Thompson was only 37 years ot age when appointed to Nelson, where amongst all his other official offices he was to be the Protector of Aboriginees, and be in charge of Native Reserves. He certainly appears to have been somewhat eccentric and was a man of impetuous and uncertain temper. Even Captain Arthur Wakefield saw fit to write to his brother Colonel William Wakefield, "Thompson's irritable temper is making him enemies……"


Thompson's Journal, which has been preserved, commenced on September 5, 1842, and continued until April 25, 1843. In this, official and business matters are intermixed with references to his farm property and similar undertakings. He and his wife were living in the town and he often walked over the hill to Penton farm (on the hillside at Tahunanui) to supervise the work of the men he was employing. On a few occasions he was taken round by boat. He refers to the purchase of fowls, of the turkey and her poults, of heifers and cows, and also the birth of a foal. A house was being built on the farm in December 1842 a man commenced plastering the building. In April 1843 500 bricks were sent to the building site and it is reasonable to assume that the house was still unoccupied when the journal ended in that month.


The Magistrate's official duties were many and varied, attending at the Bank, dispatching overseas mails and attending to Court business. On March 1, 1843, he assumed duties as County Judge 

and made various official appointments. Mr McDonald became Honorary Sheriff and Mr Shepherd Clerk of the Court while Mr Nelson became Officer of Health, and Mr Cautley Deputy Postmaster. The Colonial Secretary, Lieutenant Willoughby Shortland, wrote on March 18, 1843, stating that it was not possible for Thompson to form a legal jury and that he was to confine his operations to civil cases. Shortland also suggested that prisoners should be sent to Victoria. There is nothing in the journal so suggest that any prisoners were sent away but there are many references to the building of a goal, and the appointment (and discharging) of several constables. It is interesting to reed that charges were brought against the captains of two ships in March and April for smuggling goods into Nelson.


Some interesting entries are made concerning his dealings with the Maori population. In September 1842 he went to Wauka Pa Wauka as two men had beers shot. Paremate was badly wounded but Thompson did not deem is necessary to make an arrest as Paremata had started the argument. There were some arguments over the ownership of land and as early as October 1842 there were some difficulties in Motueka when Maori people prevented settlers from building homes on the sections which they had been allocated. In the following January J. W. Barnicoat was drawing a plan of the Motueka and Moutere districts, colouring in the Maori reserves. Captain Wakefield provided the Deal boat and accompanied Thompson and three constables to Motueka with the idea of arresting Epoha. The situation was resolved psacably but some Maori folk visited Nelson with further complaints in April 1843.


Meanwhile problems had arisen at Motupipi. Early in November 1842 a letter was sent to Captain Arthur Wakefield concerning the fact that the Maori people were interrupting white people who were working coal. On November 15 the Magistrate and Captain Wakefield set out for Massacre Bay. There was Mr Tytler, three constables, three of the men who had been working the coal and a crew of eight men. All were well armed. (Mr Tod and Captain England were sitting at the Nelson Police office while Thompson was away). The party made no arrets as Thompson noted when he returned to Nelson on November 18, "Settled business very peacably." The show of force had effect and this probably led the Magisirate to believe that all differences could be handled in like manner. On March 10, 1843, it was recorded that "Raupero (Te Rauparaha) and son arrived in a canoe from Kapiti to make arrangements concerning new found land at Wairoo." At this stage it becomes very apparent that Thompson underestimated the Maori claim to the ownership of the Wairau lands and the subsequent events which led to the deaths of so many of the Nelson men at Tua Marina is a matter of history which need not be repeated here Thompson's hasty temper and lack of understanding of the Maori people were not the right ingredients to produce a peaceful settlement. The disaster on June 17. 1843, had far reaching consequences. Colonel W. Wakefield, in a letter to Mrs 

Thompson, dated August 9, 1843, stated that he felt that it was best to leave the bodies in a common grave where they had been buried. Bishop G. A. Selwyn wrote a long letter tendering his condolences and offering Mrs Thompson hospitality at the Selwyn home at Waimate in North Auckland.


The document concerning probate with a copy of the will of H. A. Thompson is included in the preserved material. The will was dated March 11, 1843, Thompson's signature being witnessed by W. L. Shepherd and W. O. Cautley. Probate was declared on November 21, 1843. £200 was to be paid to a beneficiary in England and the residue was to go to his wife Elizabeth.


The coat of arms carrying the name of Hy. Augustus Thompson depicts three falcons on a shield.
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The Ungentle Shepherds



(Being the Tale of the Untimely Rift between Nelson and the Wairau).



B. E. Dickinson


The unfortunate traveller, leaving Nelson, has no sooner negotiated the Wangamoas and crested the Rai Saddle before he is confronted by a huge crimson hoarding on the roadside bidding him welcome to the Province of Marlborough!!


It seems so little time since he left Nelson and the distance travelled so short that he is surprised, perhaps confused even, to find Marlborough so close. If he is puzzled enough to make enquiries as to why the boundary should be so close to Nelson, he finds that he has stumbled on an old forgotten grievance once very important to both Marlborough and Nelson.


The grievance was whether the Wairau should govern itstelf or whether it should continue as part of the province of Nelson which, at that time comprised the top third of the South Island. According to the Wakefields, the Wairau had always been considered a part of Nelson from the beginning of the settlement. They had Blenkinsop's gun to prove it. The imbroglio at the Wairau in 1843, and the subsequent rebukes from the Governor of New Zealand and his officials on their hasty and intemperate action stung the New Zealand Company, and, sulkily, they decided they didn't want the Wairau. It was not until 1847 that Sir George Grey, deciding that it was good land and should be used for farming, bought it again from the Maori owners and threw it open for settlement.


True, some of the land-hungry Nelsonians had already nibbled at the outer edges of this huge area, as it seemed to them ideal for sheep farms. Morse and Cooper were already squatting with their flocks at Tophouse by November 1846 and a few months later had over a thousand sheep there. Weld, of course, had previously regularised his position by leasing Flaxbourne from the Maori owners.


By March 1848 the distribution of rural land in the Wairau had begun and the landowners who had waited six years for the rural 

land they had paid for in 1841 or 1842 soon selected their chosen areas, although not a little nettled by the horde of newcomers who also pushed in to buy. Some of the newcomers became a little nettled too, and in February 1849, presented a memorial to the New Zealand Company "against the claims of the R.O.P.'s (Resident Original Purchasers) to a prior right of depasturising stock over all the waste lands of the province of New Munster contiguous to Nelson." These were our old friends Edward W. Stafford, H. Bed-borough, Thomas Renwick, John Tinline and Charles Elliott.


However, all were eventually accommodated and soon they settled down amicably together to raise their flocks and to dream of the wealth to come.


Not all the land was considered ideal sheep country. At the lower end of the Wairau among swamps and streams an agricultural settlement grew up with farmers and dairymen on smaller plots. Alfred Fell and Seymour sold their land in small blocks and soon a little town grew up as well—the Beaver—they called it—but it grew and prospered and soon had a boat traffic of its own with the boats coming up the Omaka as far as Blenheim itself.


The big run owners looked askance at this boat traffic as they had all received sections at the new port of Picton and pooh-poohed the boat traffic at the Beaver. But the small farmers increased until by 1855 the population of the Wairau was 627 with only 49 of them" pastoralists sitting on their half million acres.


Both parties soon found a common grievance against Nelson—they were entirely neglected, or almost so, by the Provincial Government; there were few roads and these were mostly impassable in winter; they had no police to protect them from the rowdy elements at such places as the hotel at the Boulder Bank; they had no schools, post office or government officials of any kind. They felt very hardly done by.


In fairness to the Provincial Government, they considered the settlement at the Beaver a temporary measure until the port of Picton should be opened and had no desire to waste money on such an ephemeral enterprise.


The big landowners, now settled down into one big happy band of brothers, felt these little grievances also, but to their dismay they were suddenly confronted by a new and menacing situation they had never even envisaged. From the beginning of the settlement of Nelson these Original Resident Property Owners had banded together to protect their own interests. Together with the newer sheepowners they were the most wealthy and influential party in the Colony and were consulted by Sir George Grey on all occasions. As Judge Broad remarks, "This party which was long known as the 'Nelson Supper Party' became the dominant party in the Nelson Settlement. The Governor made all appointments by their advice, they acquired control of the only newspaper in the place; the land regulations were made to suit them; the runs were divided amongst them."


In 1856 on the resignation of Stafford from the superintendency 

of Nelson to become Premier of New Zealand, they confidently put forward another of their number—Dr Monro—as their candidate. To their great consternation he was defeated by the Radical candidate —John Perry Robinson—"a highly worthy and intelligent mechanic!"


The new Superintendent soon showed the station owners that he had ideas of his own on land and introduced legislation—the Waste Lands Bill—on 27 March, 1857. This envisaged changes in the purchase and leasehold of land to the detriment of the station owners who were quick to react. Dr Renwick, the owner of the Delta Station and the founder of Renwicktown was intensely annoyed and threatened separation from Nelson. However, the Pastoralists were still in the majority in the Provincial Council and defeated the Bill so all was well for the present.


But the idea of separation had now become established and in May 1857, at a meeting at John Godfrey's Wairau Hotel (The Sheepskin Tavern) the subject was put forward before an enthusiastic audience and a separation committee was elected. "The boundary of their new county was to lie east of the Pelorus River thence along the watershed of the main dividing range to the southern limits of the province." At a further meeting the people voted 30 to 11 in favour of separation.


In August 1857 the Wairau Separationists launched their Manifesto and listed their grievances in a letter to the Nelson Examiner headed by the following lines:—






"Trust not for freedom to the Franks,



They have a king who buys and sells.



In native swords and native ranks



The only hope of courage dwells."





The letter was signed by Farmer Woolley who expressed his deep resentment at the cavalier treatment afforded the Wairau settlers by the Nelson Provincial Council. One of his main complaints was that all the money received from land sale in the Wairau found its way into the coffers of the Nelson Provincial Council where it stayed. The "king" in the poem probably referred to Edward William Stafford, the fiirst Superintendent of Nelson and later Premier of New Zealand.


On 15 August the Examiner published a letter written in reply to Farmer Woolley:












The Editor,


Sir,




Your late despatches from the Wairau are really alarming; his Honour will have to exercise all the diplomatic tact and talent for which he is conspicuous to avoid internecine war.


Goodness gracious me! How could such muffs as we are contend in mortal strife against those doughty mountaineers with their long beards and still longer stockwhips. We should get all the kicks and they all the halfpence.





If these ungentle shepherds would curb their impatience for a few months they would find that our working-men's Superintendent would redress all the grievances and wrongs they complain of. Not only from a sense of duty but also from a wish to show the enlightened public that as a legislator and administrator he is far suerior to his predecessor, the Premier of New Zealand. For my part, sir, I would accede to anything and concede everything rather than rush into such a war which will convulse the Southern Hemisphere and frighten the whales from our sea coasts.




I am, etc.



Fred Funky.










As one would expect the letter had no obvious effect on the Wairau Separationists who on 22 August, 1857, presented their memorial for Separation to the Governor, Thomas Gore Browne, C.B., and to the House of the General Assembly. According to this document 162,000 acres in the Wairau had been sold in the previous three years for approximately 64,000 pounds (65,000 ha for $128,000) which had been swallowed up by the Nelson Provincial Council while the expenditure on the Wairau for that time amounted to three hundred pounds ($600). They had no magistrate, government officials, schools or clergymen, in spite of the fact that the district now had a population of 1,500, stock figures of 1,000 horses, 7,000 horned cattle, 35,000 sheep and an annual wool cheque of 50,000 pounds ($100,000).


Nelson had sharked all and still cried, "give, give." All alike the Nelson Governments had stretched out their rapacious hands and seized their land funds. As Farmer Woolley had said, "Let us not trust Nelson for our rights and privileges, in ourselves lies the only hope of justice."


To add to this emotional outburst he had written another poem. Only part is reproduced here. The full poem is in the 1857 Examiner.













Poem in Reply Fred Funky entitled 
How to Use a Stockwhip



Awake you longbeards, with your whips



Trounce well these Nelson snobs and snips,



Your halfpence you may certain feel



That they will try their best to steal.



Trust not this would-be Nelson head



Cracked up by Master Funky Fred,



For when in office like the rest



He for the town will do his best.



And you ungentle shepherds will






Find his hand dipped in your till.



If you thus let yourself be tricked



You richly merit to be kicked.



But only use your stockwhips well



Another tale you then may tell.



Are we to lose our thousands thus



And when we do make some slight fuss



Yield to such a barefaced monkey



As this well known friend, Fred Funky?










Meanwhile the Memorial had been presented solemnly to the General Assembly among whose members were to be found our old friends the pastoralists—Messrs Stafford, Clifford, Monro, Weld and others who received it just as solemnly. They laid their plans beforehand and the "New Provinces Act" was passed giving districts the right to break away from their old provincial districts and to form new provinces. Petitions were received at once for the creation of three new provinces—Hawkes Bay, Murihiku (the name chosen for Southland) and the Wairau. There were of course certain provisions to be met before any district could be considered eligible for speration. There had to be a certain area of land, sufficient population and a stipulated number of residents entitled to vote on the issue before the Assembly could consider the request. By 1859 the Wairau separationists had all these and the Assembly could go ahead.


But wait. Someone had inserted a clause in the new Bill which would have made the whole of the voters in the Wairau a laughing stock, and negated their efforts completely. The offending clause read: "No point of the boundary line of any such district shall be within sixty miles, measured in a "right" line, of the capital town of any province already or hereinafter established." But this was ridiculous. Sixty miles east of Nelson in a straight line would put the nearest boundary of the Wairau beyond Blenheim. Possibly in Cook Strait itself. The clerks drafting the new law were told in no uncertain terms that "This would not do!" and scuttled away in fright, displaying an alacrity seldom seen since in the Civil Service. They returned smartly with the solution—a special provision to apply to the Nelson Region, and to be inserted in the New Provinces Act. The sixty mile limit was not to apply to Nelson and in its place was inserted the clause: "provided that the condition shall not apply to any boundary line dividing territory drained by rivers falling into Blind Bay." This blatant piece of political chicanery by the pastoral-politicians meant in reality that any piddling little stream flowing into Tasman Bay could decide that boundary line. The little stream at The Glen, perhaps, or even Oldham Creek at Wakapuakal But displaying slighty greater magnanimity the sheepfarmers picked out the pretty little stream which flows down Collins Valley to join the Whangamoa River before falling into the sea. As it rose near the Rai Saddle this became the boundary of Nelson and Marlborough, the new name for the Wairau. Hence the notice there. Perhaps the 

politicians had been too ashamed too come any closer to Nelson. It might have been embarrassing to have been seen from the streets of Nelson City by the jeering Nelsonians while they were still standing in Marlborough. Some of them like the Richardsons, the Renwicks and the Monros could have overlooked their own backyards.


People in Nelson laughed as they knew why so much land had been included in the new province. They evidently didn't have enough people in Marlborough to meet the provincial requirements. Alfred Saunders, always a pungent critic, suggested that in order to get the required numbers, they must have gone beyond the ranks of those living there and included the votes of those who had long since forsaken the pastoral delights of the Wairau for the even fairer meads of the Elysian Fields. But he was sternly rebuked by William Adams, the Wairau spokesman and prospective Superintendent of the new province. There were 180 men's names, all voters, on the petition, and they were all alive and kicking, as Saunders could see if he chose to come over to the Wairau. As for Saunder's other criticism, that it had been an act of discourtesy to apply for separation without notifying Nelson, Adams stated that he had given a copy of the Memorial to the Superintendent of Nelson when he passed through on his way to the Assembly. Apparently the Adams had not built their mansion at Langleydale at this time, for when the Governor, Colonel Gore Browne, rode over there to see Adams and discuss the separation of the Province only one spare bedroom was available for him in the house. His retinue was accommodated in a haystack, luckily with no ill-effects as none of them smoked in bed. It would have been a pitiful sight if they had, and Wellington would have cringed to see the Governor returning with a bedraggled retinue in singed nightshirts.


Thus Marlborough became a separate province in October 1859 and was left to its own devices.


Other districts might have been tempted to follow their example, the Amuri, for instance, but lack of population prevented this. It was not until 1876 that the Amuri managed to break away to become part of Canterbury, but strangely enough under the present electoral changes they have now again returned to the Marlborough district. Even though they removed their moneybags from the clutches of the Nelsonians, their souls still remain in our keeping, as they are even yet part of the Anglican Diocese of Nelson.


As a last word, and in fairness to Edward Stafford, it must be said that he had become an ardent centralist and welcomed the breakaway of Marlborough and any other new provinces as the more provinces there were, the less powerful they would become politically. He looked forward to the time when they would become mere municipalities rather than provinces and confine themselves to local affairs.
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The Railway Windmill at Belgrove


J. N. W. Newport


The old windmill at Belgrove is now one of the few obvious relics of the Nelson Railway which was dismantled in 1955. Of even more significance is the fact that it is one of only two of these railway windmills which is still standing in New Zealand. The Committee of the Nelson Historical Society regarded the Belgrove windmill as an essential iink in the history of Nelson Province and to ensure that it would not be destroyed, entered into a lease with the Railway Department and undertook to see that it would be preserved. The wheel has been suffering from the ravages of weather but the Society, with some financial assistance from the Historic Places Trust has had costly repairs carried out and this well-known landmark is again an attractive sight.


Belgrove was an important station on the Nelson section of railway. The line was opened as far as Foxhill on 31 January, 1876, and at the time it was confidently expected that it would be continued on to the West Coast as a survey had been carried out by John Rochfort in 1874. A contract for the extension to Belgrove was let in 1879 and the line was opened on 25 July, 1881, when Belgrove became the terminus.


The detailed survey beyond this point had been carried out for the next 19½ miles to Blue Glen by way of the Wai-iti Valley and Golden Downs. A contract was let in June 1884 for formation work beyond Belgrove and some of the earthworks on this section are still obvious. Little headway was made, but in August 1888 a contract was signed between a private company and the Government to construct, operate and within ten years, from January 1885, to provide railways from Springfield (Canterbury) to Brunnerton (West Coast) and from Brunnerton, by way of Reefton to Belgrove. This became known as the "Midland" railway and did not follow the 1874 survey. Little progress was made on the Nelson end of the contract.


The Midland Railway Company Contract expired in 1895 when the Government seized the railway and at once recommenced work on the Belgrove-Spooner's Range section. With the opening of the Spooner's Range tunnel the line was completed to Motupiko (later known as Kohatu) in 1899, and this became the terminus for the Buller coaches and wagons until the section to Glenhope was opened in 1912.


Belgrove continued to be one of the most important stations on the line. Engines and train crews were stationed there as additional trains operated between Belgrove and Nelson. There must be hundreds of people who, as College students, travelled into Nelson daily by train.


When the old steam locomotives were in use untold volumes of 

water were required to provide the steam and the Belgrove windmill played a very important part in the day by day running of the essential transport of that time. The exact date when the windmill was erected is not available, but the plans for the structure with the sixteen foot wheel were approved in March 1892.










Victoria University of Wellington Library




Nelson Historical Society Journal, Volume 3, Issue 4, September 1978

'Potted Biographies'





'Potted Biographies'



(Those who braved a cold winter's day to visit the old part of the Wakapuaka Cemetery were fascinated by the 'potted biographies' presented by various members. Here is a brief selection of Mr John Savage's research).




Herbert Evelyn Curtis (1818–90) left England in 1853 with his younger brother Oswald in the barque "Mohammed Shah," but the voyage was not without incident, for when off the coast of Tasmania the ship was burnt at sea and the passengers and crew were landed on the coast. When they eventually reached Nelson the brothers set up in business as merchants trading under the name of Curtis Brothers.


In 1856 Herbert Curtis entered Parliament representing Motueka and Massacre Bay (1856–60) and Motueka (1861–66). He was also Government Auditor for the provincial district of Nelson, but upon his retirement from politics in 1866 he devoted himself to business. He was for many years an active Justice of the Peace and up to the time of his death in 1890 he was a senior lieutenant in the New Zea-Militia.



Oswald Curtis (1821–1902) was a member of the Provincial Council for Nelson from 1857 till 1867, but following the retirement from politics of his elder brother Herbert he was elected to Parliament in 1866 as member for Nelson, a seat which he held until 1879. Early in 1867 he succeeded Alfred Saunders as Superintendant of the province of Nelson, a position which he held until the abolition of the provinces. In 1872 he was Postmaster-General and Commissioner of Customs for four weeks in the Stafford ministry but apart from this brief excursion into national politics his public experience was confined chiefly to Nelson. He retired From Parliament in 1879 but a few months later he was appointed chairman of the Royal Commision on railways. He was afterwards a Resident Magistrate and acted on several commissions of enquiry notably that in connection with Dunedin gaol (1883).


His practical ability and his zeal in the cause of education always commanded the respect and esteem of his fellow colonists. He was made a Governor of Nelson College in 1874 and was a member of the New Zealand University Senate (1870–87). He was also a trustee of the Nelson Savings Bank.



Samuel Kirkpatrick (1851–1925) was born in Newry, County Down, Ireland, where he received his early education, but later he was enrolled at Walton College, Liverpool. After leaving college he joined 

a firm of wholesale provision and tea merchants with whom he remained for five years. He then emigrated to America where he was engaged in the wholesale tea business, first in Philadelphia and afterwards at Pittsburg. In 1876 he went to California where he was engaged in the fruit preserving industry. It was here that he gained the practical knowledge and experience which he was later to use to such advantage in his Nelson enterprise. From California he emigrated to New Zealand in 1879 and landed in Auckland. He moved to Dunedin where he spent some time before returning to Britain. However, his visit to New Zealand had convinced him of the viability of a fruit preserving industry in this country, so in 1881 he returned to New Zealand bringing with him a complete canning plant. He selected Nelson and set up business in Bridge Street on a site which in more recent times, was occupied by Anstice's Bakery. His venture was soon so successful that he was compelled to build larger premises on the corner of Vanguard and Gloucester Streets. The business continued to prosper and for many years was the largest employer of labour in the district as well as providing a stimulus for the growing of a wide range of fruits and vegetables in the area. He was a prominent Mason and upon his death his home in Mount Street was endowed to eventually become a home for orphaned girls whose fathers had been Masons.



Burchard Franzen (1833–1893) was born in Schlesig-Holstein in 1833 and arrived in Nelson in the barque "Ardencraig" in 1862 and returned in the same year. However, he returned to Nelson in 1863 and commenced business as a sailmaker and ships-chandler at the Port. The two-storey building had a wharf attached. Mr Franzen was also interested in the mining industry and he invested large sums of money in the Champion Copper Mine and in other mines in the district. It is interesting to note that he was agent for Washbourn and Sons' Hematite Paints and Knife Powder indicating that he was keen to promote the mineral resources which were being developed by the Washbourns at Para Para. Mr Franzen was naturalised as a British subject and was made a Justice of the Peace. Following his death the business was carried on by his widow and later by Mr Edwin Smallbone.
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Obituary


It is with regret that we record the deaths of the late F. W. Smith and C. C. Challies, and our treasurer, the late Jim Martin.


Frank Smith, very well known for his active part in Historical Society and Historic Places Trust Committee activities in Marlborough, was a descendant of early Nelson pioneers. His untiring interest in historical matters was shown in many ways. The restoration of the Riverlands cob cottage, the erection of historical markers in many places and his writings on the history of Tua Marina, Samuel Ironside, the Methodist Church, and similar matters have preserved 

a great deal of the local story. He personally donated land for a memorial to the pioneer missionary, Rev. Samuel Ironside, at Port Underwood, and paid for the cairn at Tophouse to mark the establishment of the first sheep run in Marlborough.


He had been a member of the Nelson Historical Society for a lengthy period and in 1977 was accorded life membership.


Mr C. C. Challies was an early member of our Society and took a very practical interest in the development of the organisation. When manager of the Union Bank in Bridge Street he generously provided the Society with the use of fireproof rooms as a collection and storage centre for the documents and materials which were being collected. This was the headquarters and meeting room for the whole organisation prior to the move to Isel House brought about by the demolition of the Bank building.


Mr Jim Martin, although not a native of Nelson, was a man who took a keen interest in Society affairs. He was a solid worker as a member of our committee and was Treasurer for the past two years, holding this position at the time of his death. At all times he took a pracical interest in Society undertakings and was happy that he was able to assist the committee by looking after our financial affairs.
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"
Gibb's Bridge"


In the review of the book, "F. G. Gibbs" in the 1977 Journal of the Nelson Historical Society it was stated that no feature had been named for Gibbs. The Automobile Association requested that the bridge over the Maitai River near Sunday Hole be so named as a tribute to the work done for Nelson by their late Patron, Dr S. A. Gibbs and his brother, F. G. Gibbs. The sign has now been erected.
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